

Technical paper N° 1/2020

# **Report for a list of Annex I habitat types**

## important for Pollinators

Helmut Kudrnovsky, Thomas Ellmauer, Martin Götzl, David Paternoster, Gabriele Sonderegger and Elisabeth Schwaiger

June 2020

#### Authors' affiliation:

Helmut Kudrnovsky, Umweltbundesamt GmbH (AT) Thomas Ellmauer, Umweltbundesamt GmbH (AT) Martin Götzl, Umweltbundesamt GmbH (AT) David Paternoster, Umweltbundesamt GmbH (AT) Gabriele Sonderegger, Umweltbundesamt GmbH (AT) Elisabeth Schwaiger, Umweltbundesamt GmbH (AT)

#### **EEA project manager:**

Markus Erhard, European Environment Agency (DK)

#### **ETC/BD** production support:

Muriel Vincent, Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle (FR)

#### Context:

The Topic Centre has prepared this Technical paper in collaboration with the European Environment Agency (EEA) under its 2020 work programmes as a contribution to the EEA's work on biodiversity assessments.

#### Citation:

Please cite this report as Kudrnovsky, H., Ellmauer, T., Götzl, M., Paternoster, D., Sonderegger, G. and Schwaiger, E., 2020. Report for a list of Annex I habitat types important for Pollinators. ETC/BD report to the EEA.

#### **Disclaimer:**

This European Topic Centre on Biological Diversity (ETC/BD) Technical Paper has not been subject to a European Environment Agency (EEA) member country review. The content of this publication does not necessarily reflect the official opinions of the EEA. Neither the ETC/BD nor any person or company acting on behalf of the ETC/BD is responsible for the use that may be made of the information contained in this report.

The withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union did not affect the production of the report.

Data reported by the United Kingdom are included in all analyses and assessments contained herein, unless otherwise indicated.

©ETC/BD 2020 ETC/BD Technical paper N° 1/2020 European Topic Centre on Biological Diversity c/o Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle 57 rue Cuvier 75231 Paris cedex, France Phone: + 33 1 40 79 38 70 E-mail: <u>etc.biodiversity@mnhn.fr</u> Website: <u>http://bd.eionet.europa.eu/</u>

# Contents

1		Context	4
2		Method	4
	2.1	Data sources for taxonomic lists and quality assessment	4
	2.2	Harmonisation of species lists	5
	2.3	Data sources for pollination mechanism	6
	2.4	Flowering phenology	6
	2.5	Decision making for habitat types important for pollinators	7
3		Results	8
	3.1	Plant species important for pollinating insects	8
	3.1.1	Overview	8
	3.1.2	Detailed analysis	10
	3.2	Habitat groups important for pollinating insects	10
	3.2.1	Mean total count of important plant species per habitat group	10
	3.2.2	Additional evidence for Habitat type ranking	11
	3.3	Habitat types important for pollinating insects	13
	3.3.1	List of all habitat types	13
	3.3.2	Ranking of habitat types per habitat group	13
	3.4	Reviewing the habitat type ranking with improved species lists	20
	3.4.1	Improvement of habitat type species lists	20
	3.5	Additional parameters to assess the importance of habitat types European Interest for pollinating insects	of 24
	3.5.1	Flowering and phenology	24
	3.5.2	Spatial distribution of habitats	30
4		Overall conclusions	33
5		References	34
	5.1	General references	34
	5.2	Taxonomic lists	34
	5.3	Pollination mechanisms and insect food sources	39
Anne	ex 1		46

# 1 Context

In the framework of EU Pollinators Initiative, the Commission intends to identify the habitat types from the Annex I of the Habitats Directive that are the most important for pollinators, and then to assess their condition based on the reporting provided by Member States under the Article 17 and other available data. In order to develop such a list of important habitat types for pollinators, the best indicators to consider are their ability to provide food sources (pollen and nectar) and nesting sites, as those are the two essential parameters governing the life cycles of pollinator insects.

Plant species richness is the best suitable variable to assess the ability of a habitat type to provide food source to pollinators. Indeed, the use of pollen and nectar by insects can definitely be expected for all insect-pollinated plants, called entomophilous plants species, as well as for a high number of wind or self-pollinated plants. Identifying Annex I habitat types with a high proportion of plant species providing foraging resources to pollinators can be done by detecting pollinator-dependent plant species present in each habitat type, through literature already collected by the ETC/BD, as well as considering the proportion of those pollinator-dependent species in the list of typical species for the habitat type. A detailed rationale for using richness of plant species as an indicator for important habitat types for pollinators is provided in the Annex of this report.

Gathering information on habitat type's ability to provide nesting sites for pollinators is much more difficult, because there is no "simple" indicator to detect this feature. Occurrence of nesting sites in a specific habitat type are indeed dependent on the structures locally available (e.g. areas of bare ground, deadwood, dead stems of plants, sandy river banks, ...) and cannot be evaluated at the level of the overall distribution of the habitat type. However, a strong hypothesis is that nesting sites should be adjacent to the foraging resources, because long flight distances are too energy demanding for most pollinators. Thus, flowering plants richness will also be the major indicator to consider the occurrence of nesting sites. If some indications about specific habitats providing foraging sources but no nesting sites can be found during the literature search, it will be considered in the evaluation. Additionally, to the number of plant species providing food sources and their abundance in certain habitat types, additional parameters like flowering / phenology and spatial distribution should be considered to assess the importance of a habitat type for pollinating insects.

# 2 Method

### 2.1 Data sources for taxonomic lists and quality assessment

The main data sources to identify plant species of the habitat types of European interest are the *Interpretation manual of European Union Habitats* (European Commission 2013) and the *compilation of typical species used by Member States to assess the parameter 'Specific structure and functions (including typical species)' for the reporting period 2007-2012* (EEA 2019). Those two species lists have been compiled into a joint database, in order to facilitate data processing. Additional information is also provided by the species list mentioned in the study *Links between species listed in Annex II and Annex IV of the Habitat Directive and habitat types* (Halada et al. 2010).

However, this combined list of relevant species provides a very heterogeneous list of species for habitat types. Indeed, from a phytosociological point of view, most of them cannot be considered as diagnostic species of the related vegetation unit.

In order to assess the level of uncertainty relating to this heterogeneity, habitat types that appear highly ranked for pollinators by using the joint database were further analysed to explore the change of species sets, when phytosociologically harmonised and revised by focussing on only highly constant and diagnostic species (see Table 1).

Habitat Code	Name	References
6210	Semi-natural dry grasslands and scrubland facies on calcareous substrates (Festuco-Brometalia)	Willner et al. 2017, Ellenberg 1986, Mucina et al. 1993, Fischer et al. 2008, Calcaiura & Spinelli 2008, Wikipedia
6510	Lowland hay meadows (Alopecurus pratensis, Sanguisorba officinalis)	Ellenberg 1986, Ellmauer & Mucina 1993, Wikipedia
8210	Calcareous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation	Bernardos et al. 2004, Biondi et al. 1997, Camarda et al. 1995, Carmona et al. 1997, Dakskobler et al. 2014, Dakskobler & Surina 2016,
8220	Siliceous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation	Dimopoulos et al. 1997, Escudero & Pajarón 1994, Frajman et al. 2013, Gimenez Luque & Gomez Mercado 2002, Marsili et al. 2009, Maroulis & Georgiadis 2005, Mucina et al.1990, Nicoletti et al. 2012, Oberdorfer 1977, Ortiz & Rodríguez-Oubiña 1993 Pavlin et al. 2015, Surina & Martinčič 2014, Swierkosz 2012 Terzi & D'Amico 2008, Terzi et al. 2018, Tomaselli et al. 2018, Wagensommer et al. 2015, Wagensommer 2016, Wikipedia, Info Flora 2020, EcoDB 2020, EDIT 2020, HBS 2020, SPB 2020
9130	Asperulo-Fagetum beech forests	Willner 2001, Willner et al. 2017
9150	Medio-European limestone beech forests of the Cephalanthero-Fagion	Willner 2001, Willner et al. 2017

# Table 1:Selected habitat types for a phytosociological harmonization of their species lists by<br/>using the sources in the column "references"

Additionally, three categories were attributed to each plant species regarding their typical abundance in the respective habitat types, in order to weight their importance for pollinators: (1) dominant; (2) abundant; (3) rare. The weighting is carried out by multiplying dominant species by 2, abundant species by 1 and rare plant species by 0.33.

It was also necessary to harmonize and clean the combined list in several ways.

### 2.2 Harmonisation of species lists

The *Euro+Med PlantBase* (Euro+Med Plantbase 2019) provides an on-line database and information system for the vascular plants of Europe and the Mediterranean region, up-to-date and with a critically evaluated consensus taxonomic core for the concerned species. This consensus taxonomic plant list was used to identify synonyms and doublets and to harmonize the species compilation.

Since the *Interpretation Manual* includes plant, animal and fungi species characterizing the European habitat types, we used several regional, national and continent-wide species lists (e.g. European Red Lists of animals, Fauna Europaea, national checklists of butterflies, beetles, grasshoppers or dragonflies, etc.; see references for the complete list) to filter out non-vascular plant species as well as animal species, which were not considered for our analyses.

Finally, taxa other than species (e.g. genus like *Sesleria* sp. or Families) as well as plant species of submerse vegetation have been excluded from the compiled data set.

### 2.3 Data sources for pollination mechanism

BiolFlor (UFZ 2019) is a comprehensive database of morphology, flowering phenology, floral and reproductive biology or pollination mechanisms. The database contains almost 3.660 species and more than 60 traits of e.g. morphology, flowering phenology or floral and reproductive biology and was used as one main source to get sound information on pollination mechanisms of plant species relevant for the Habitats Directive.

The following parameters provided by the database BiolFlor were used to decide on the pollination mechanism and to select the plant species used as food sources by pollinators:

- Pollination by insects;
- Pollination by other animal species;
- Pollination by wind;
- Self-pollination;
- Production of nectar and production of pollen.

The information provided by the BiolFlor database allowed to assess the importance for pollinators of about 20% of the plant species from the harmonized dataset. 59% of the pollination mechanism assessments were based on expert judgement, additionally supported by other references (peer reviewed papers for approx. 6% and internet references for about 3%). These references correspond for example to reference books on different kinds of pollinating insects dealing with their food sources, or peer reviewed papers on pollinators inhabiting Natura 2000 sites and other relevant habitat types in Europe including the Mediterranean (see list of References).

Species from the following families, mainly pertaining to ferns and grasses, have been classified as not important for pollinators because of their way of reproduction: *Aspleniaceae, Athyriaceae, Blechnaceae, Culcitaceae, Cystopteridaceae, Davalliaceae, Dennstaedtiaceae, Dryopteridaceae, Equisetaceae, Hymenophyllaceae, Lycopodiaceae, Marsileaceae, Onocleaceae, Ophioglossaceae, Osmundaceae, Poaceae, Polypodiaceae, Pteridaceae, Salviniaceae, Selaginellaceae, Thelypteridaceae, Woodsiaceae.* In contrast, all species allocated to *Asteraceae, Fabaceae, Ericaceae* and *Lamiaceae* have been classified as important for pollinators. Those decisions are well supported by literature (e.g. Westrich 2018, Zurbuchen & Müller 2012).

### 2.4 Flowering phenology

Phenology is the study of the timing of recurring biological events and their relationship to seasonal climatic changes (Lieth 1974). The seasonality in the flowering behaviour of plants is important for many ecological aspects, including plant-animal interactions like pollination. In general, information on phenology are provided as:

- The months when the flowering season of a plant species starts and ends;
- How long it lasts;
- The numbers of flowering phases if more than one.

As the start or end of the flowering season largely depends on external abiotic factors, mainly climatic, the exact time may change a bit from year to year (Trefflich et al 2002). Additionally, Dierschke (1995) classified plants into symphenological groups, i.e. groups of plants that bloom together (see Table 2).

#### Table 2: Character states of flowering phases (after Dierschke 1995 in BiolFlor - UFZ 2019)



This phenology information is incorporated into the BiolFlor database (UFZ 2019) but it is not available for all the plant species of the habitat types of European interest. Analysis were therefore done with the subset of species where phenology information is available. Furthermore, the spatial focus of the BiolFlor phenology data being on the region of Central Europe, phenology may vary in other European (bio)geographical regions.

Existing climatic differentiations in a broader geographical area have a considerable influence on the phenology. Therefore, phenological information on species with large distribution always have to include some kind of fuzziness.

As the weather patterns vary from year to year, the flowering behaviour also varies between years. Furthermore, population differences can be expected due to the genetic fixation of the flowering behaviour. These two factors must also be included in the phenological information. In summary, relatively wide flowering periods are given in most floras.

### 2.5 Decision making for habitat types important for pollinators

#### Step 1: Selection of plant species important for pollinators

As mentioned above, the fact that a plant species is used as food sources for pollinating insects was the decisive criterion to classify it as important for pollinators. This assessment was based on the information related to the pollination mechanism of the plant species, and on whether the pollen of wind pollinated plant species serves as a food source for pollinating insects.

#### Step 2: Habitat groups important for pollinators

Based on the compilation of plant species of the habitat types of European interest, the following parameters were calculated per habitat group of the Habitats Directive Annex I (Natural and seminatural grassland formations, Sclerophyllous scrub (matorral), Temperate heath and scrub, Raised bogs and mires and fens, Forests, Coastal sand dunes and inland dunes, Coastal and halophytic habitats, Freshwater habitats, Rocky habitats and caves):

- Minimum total count of species;
- Maximum total count of species;
- Mean and median total count of species;
- Mean and median count and percentage of species classified as important for pollinators.

In order to get a balanced view on the species pool, these parameters were calculated for 3 different data subsets: (1) vascular plants listed in the Interpretation Manual EU 28, (2) typical plant species reported by the Member States for the period 2007-2012 of the Article 17 report and (3) all species of the compiled and harmonized database. Ranking of the habitat groups is done according to the mean total count of important species for pollinators, using the combined species list (revised, harmonized and weighted, by considering the findings from the analysis steps of revised and weighted species lists).

As the analysis are based on aggregated numbers of vascular plant species listed in the different sources, a particular attention is needed on Rocky habitats and caves. Indeed, some rocky habitat types are species rich with a high proportion of local, regional endemic or specialised species, sharing only a subset of common species at the level of the habitat group. Moreover, some rocky habitat types are represented by a high number of subtypes, like 8130 Western Mediterranean and thermophilous scree (11 subtypes), 8140 Eastern Mediterranean (3 subtypes), 8210 Calcareous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation (10 subtypes), 8220 Siliceous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation (10 subtypes). Therefore, the average of 3.6 subtypes was used as a weighting factor for the ranking of this habitat group (division of the mean total species count of the rocky habitat group with the factor).

#### Step 3: Habitat types important for pollinators

In a third step, analyses were conducted to assess the importance for pollinators of each habitat types under the Habitats Directive. The ranking is done, within each habitat groups, considering: (1) the absolute number of characteristic plant species assessed as important for pollinators; and (2) the proportion of plant species classified as important food sources for pollinating insect compared to the total number of characteristic plant species.

# **3** Results

### **3.1** Plant species important for pollinating insects

#### 3.1.1 Overview

The compilation of typical species reported by Member States under their 2013 Art. 17 reports (EEA 2019a) is the most important species habitat membership data source, with about approx. 6.600 species. The interpretation manual contains on his side 1.961 species, with an overlap of approximately 21% of species mentioned in these main species lists.

According to the data used and the combination of these two data sets (see chapter 2.1-2.3), a list of 6.693 vascular plant species relevant for the habitat types under the Habitats Directive have been compiled. Among them, 4.700 plant species (70%) could be classified according to their importance for pollinators regarding their pollination mechanism: 3.764 plant species were assessed as important (80% of the classified species, 56 % of all relevant species) and 936 as not important (20% of the classified species, 14% of all identified plant species) (see Table 3).

	Number of plant species	Percent of plant species
1. Plant species identified for Annex I habitat types	6.693	100%
2. Plant species classified:	4.700	70%
2.1 Important for pollinators	3.764	56%
2.2 Not important for pollinators	936	14%
3. Plant species not yet classified	1.993	30%

#### Table 3: Number of plant species classified regarding to their importance for pollinators

For plant species where no classification of their importance for pollinators could be found in databases or published literature, relevant information had to be searched species by species using information provided in the internet. Expert judgement was also used to define the importance for pollinators for some groups of plants. But despite a very thorough literature search for many plant species, 1.993 plant species could not be classified yet (30%) as no information on their importance for pollinators could be found in the course of this project.

The compilation of typical species identified by Member States (EEA 2019a) is the data source with the highest number of species classified as important (3.557) as well as not important for pollinators (885) followed by the species of the interpretation manual (respectively 1.140 and 286) (see Table 4).

# Table 4:Number of plant species classified according to their importance for pollinators, in<br/>relation to the source of information about habitat membership

	Species habitat membership source					
Classification of plant species	Links between species listed in Annex II and Annex IV of the Habitat Directive and habitat types (Halada et al. 2010)	Interpretation manual	Typical species (reporting period 2007- 2012)			
Important for pollinators	157	1.123	3.557			
Not important for pollinators	18	286	885			
Not yet classified	145	482	1.783			

The Member States typical species compilation is related to the assessment of the parameter "Specific structure and functions (including typical species)" for the reporting period 2007-2012. Depending on the habitat type (occurring in several member states and biogeographical regions), the difference of reported species is between 0 (all MS reported the same number of typical specie for the same habitat type in the same biogeographic region) and 341 (one MS reported 341 more typical species than another MS for the same habitat in the same biogeographic region).

As an example, for habitat 6210 Semi-natural dry grasslands and scrubland facies on calcareous substrates, Germany reported 344 typical species, while Estonia reported only 3. In this data set provided by the Member States, the average difference between minimum and maximum reported species is 44, with a median of 28. In several habitat types of the groups Natural and semi-natural grassland formations and Forests, the minimum-maximum difference is higher than 100. In summary, there is a big imbalance between the reported typical species by the Member States.

### 3.1.2 Detailed analysis

In summary, 726 Asteracae species have been classified as important for pollinators. The family of *Fabaceae*, with 447 evaluated species, includes the second highest number. In decreasing order, *Lamiaceae* (278), *Rosaceae* (182), *Brassicaceae* (182), *Ranunculaceae* (170), *Caryophyllaceae* (124) and *Campanulaceae* (104) are the other plant families with high numbers of plant species (more than 100) classified as important for pollinators. The importance of these families for pollinating insects is very well proved in the literature (e.g. Zurbuchen et Müller 2012, Westrich 2018).

The 1.993 species that could not be assessed regarding their importance for pollinators are linked to 121 families. Main plant families in this group are *Caryophyllaceae* (252 species), *Plumbaginaceae* (160), *Apiaceae* (138), *Brassicaceae* (121), *Plantaginaceae* (111), *Chenopodiaceae* (86), *Rubiaceae* (91), *Orchidaceae* (63), *Crassulaceae* (64), *Saxifragaceae* (63), *Rosaceae* (41), *Euphorbiaceae* (49), *Orobanchaceae* (41), *Polygonaceae* (39), *Asparagaceae* (39), *Potamogetonaceae* (34), *Boraginaceae* (34), *Fagaceae* (33), *Ranunculaceae* (26), *Juncaceae* (29), *Dipsacaceae* (28), *Gentianaceae* (24), *Primulaceae* (27), *Pinaceae* (26), *Valerianaceae* (20), *Cupressaceae* (19).

### **3.2** Habitat groups important for pollinating insects

### 3.2.1 Mean total count of important plant species per habitat group

The different sets of species list (combined species list from MS typical species and Interpretation manual, phytosociologically harmonised and revised species list, revised species list weighted by abundance and weighted by the subtypes factor for rocky habitats) were analysed by calculating the median % and mean % of important species for pollinators, as well as the median of total number of relevant plant species.

As a result of this analyse, the mean total count of important species for pollinators calculated from the habitat types allocated to a habitat group provides reliable results.

According to this ranking, the habitat group "Natural and semi-natural grassland" is the most important for pollinators, followed by "Sclerophyllous scrub" and "Temperate heath and scrub". The habitat group "rocky habitats and caves" would have been also ranked very high for pollinators, but due to the fact explained under chapter 2.55 it is placed at the very end of the ranking when applying the weighted factor by subtypes (compare Table 5).

# Table 5:Analysis of different species number characteristics and ranking of the habitat<br/>groups important for pollinators based upon the overall compiled species list

Habitat group	Mean total count important species	Median % total count important species	Mean % total count important species	Minimal total count relevant species*	Maximal total count relevant species*	Mean total count relevant species*	Median total count relevant species*
Natural and semi- natural grassland formations	111,6	66,4%	65,1%	15	605	158,9	118
Sclerophyllous scrub (matorral)	77,6	76,3%	71,0%	13	504	106,5	41
Temperate heath and scrub	71,8	72,3%	68,6%	8	242	98,9	79
Raised bogs and mires and fens	67,1	74,8%	74,1%	6	225	89,7	62

Forests	59,2	70,5%	70,2%	1	404	81,5	52
Coastal sand dunes and inland dunes	49	68,8%	61,9%	26	227	79,6	61
Coastal and halophytic habitats	36,4	44,5%	42,6%	1	153	75,2	82
Freshwater habitats	38,5	48,4%	50,9%	3	216	70,9	64
Rocky habitats and caves	80,6 (~22**)	55,8%	54,1%	4	404	146,4 (~41**)	122

\* results based upon the list with all compiled vascular plant species

\*\*weighted by the rocky habitat subtype factor

### 3.2.2 Additional evidence for Habitat type ranking

In order to verify the further ranking of the habitat types listed in Annex I of the Habitat Directive according to the number of important plant species for pollinators, literature was screened to find out if published literature provides additional evidence for the habitat type ranking, or the habitat group ranking, proposed in this report. Based on the results of this literature search, there are some general findings:

- There are only few papers published dealing with the importance of specific habitat types of European interest for pollinating insects, as considered in this report;
- There is however quite a high number of papers supporting the proposed ranking for the grassland habitat group, but literature is scarce for other habitat groups;
- As bees are the most important pollinators worldwide (Kearns et al. 1998), most of the papers and other literature found are dealing with this group of pollinating insects;
- Published data on the importance of habitat types for pollinators do not allow a precise ranking of these habitats, but provide additional evidence to support the proposed ranking.

The relevant results found in the literature are summarized in a concise way in Table 6. Additionally, a summary of more detailed findings of the respective publications are presented in the Annex. As far as possible, we tried to quote the terms used by the different authors for the respective habitat types to the habitat type code (in brackets). The literature found referred to almost all habitat groups of the ranking.

# Table 6:Habitats and habitat types described in literature to be of great importance for<br/>pollinating insects

Habitats/Habitat type	Country	Kind of insects observed	Reference					
Grasslands								
Semi-dry pastures	Sweden	Bees	Westphal et al. 2008					
Wet meadows	Poland	Bees	Westphal et al. 2008					
Chalk grassland	UK	Bees	Westphal et al. 2008					
Calcareous grassland	Germany	Bees	Westphal et al. 2008					
Western-pontic petrophytic steppes (= 62C0 Ponto-Sarmatic steppes)	Bulgaria	Bees, wasps, flies, beetles	Kozuharova 2018					
Subalpine meadow	Bulgaria	Bees, bumble bees, butterflies, flies, moths	Kozuharova 2000					

Semi-dry basiphilous grassland	Romania, Czech Republic	Very high richness in vascular plants> high species richness of insects/pollinators	Wilson et al. 2012				
Semi-natural dry grassland and abandoned lowland hay meadows (6210, 6510)	Germany	Different bee species	Kratochwil 1983, 1984				
Semi-natural grassland, mown or grazed	Germany	Different bee species	Westrich 2018; Flügel 2007				
Loess steppic grassland (6250)	Germany	Different bee species	Westrich 2018				
Mountain hay meadows (6520)	Germany	Different bee species	Westrich 2018				
Lowland hay meadows (6510)	Germany	Different bee species	Westrich 2018				
	Sclero	phyllous scrubs	•				
Phrygana (54**)	Greece	Bees	Nielsen et al. 2011; Potts et al. 2006; Petanidou 1991; Petanidou & Lamborn 2005				
Garrigue	Spain	Bees, bumble bees, syrphids, small beetles	Herrera 1988				
Heath & scrub							
Fixed dunes and sand steppes (21**)	Germany	Different bee species	Westrich 2018; Risch 1994; Riemann & Melber 1990 ; Heide & Witt 1990				
Juniperus communis formations on heaths or calcareous grasslands (5130)	Germany	Different bee species	Westrich 2018				
	Bogs	, mires & fens					
Halophilous salt marshes	Spain	Not mentioned	Manso & Andres 1993				
	•	Forests	•				
Oak woodland	Greece	Different bee species	Potts et al. 2006; Petanidou & Lamborn 2005				
Managed olive groves	Greece	Different bee species	Nielsen et al. 2011; Potts et al. 2006				
Pine forests	Greece	Different bee species	Potts et al. 2006; Petanidou & Lamborn				
Dunes							
Inland dunes (23**)	Germany	Different bee species	Riemann 1987; Saure 2011; Schmidt & Westrich 1987				
Coastal dunes (21**, 22**)	Germany		Westrich 2018				

**Grassland habitats** are by far the habitat group gathering the highest number of publications proving their capacity of providing food sources and nesting sites for diverse insect groups. This is mainly due to the high plant species diversity in grassland habitats: grasslands have much higher plant species counts compared to other habitats and are therefore considered as the most important habitat group for pollinators.

**Sclerophyllous scrubs** are characteristic of the Mediterranean region and are contributing to the very diverse Mediterranean plant-pollinator communities. Indeed, up to 25.000 species of flowering plants providing best conditions for all kinds of pollinating insects (hoverflies, butterflies, beetles and wasps)

are inventoried within the Mediterranean basin. It has also been proved that scrub habitats (phrygana, garrigue, tomillares) are especially rich in bee species.

**Pine forests, oak woodlands and managed olive groves** have also been shown to have a very great value for plant-pollinator communities and provision of pollination service, in the Mediterranean landscape.

**Heathlands** are characterised by diverse vegetational structure, bar ground as areas for nesting and annuals as well as ruderal plants providing pollen and nectar for adult insects. Different bee and fly species, wasps, hoverflies and beetles are restricted to this habitat group.

**Fixed dunes and sand steppes**, both coastal and inland, are outstanding habitats for wild bees. Although the variety of plant species producing nectar and pollen is not very high, the abundance of individual plant species flowering is often very high (e.g. *Calluna vulgaris*). This high abundance of some plants species allows high densities of specialized pollinators.

Regarding **Bogs, mires & fens**, we found evidence that halophilous salt marshes are providing a high percentage of entomophilous plant species.

### **3.3** Habitat types important for pollinating insects

### 3.3.1 List of all habitat types

In a further analysis step, the classification of plant species according to their importance for pollinators was assigned to each of the habitat types of European interest. The results for all habitat types are presented in the Annex of this report. Absolute numbers of relevant species for each habitat type are given, in combination with the proportion of important for pollinators / not important / not yet classified species.

### 3.3.2 Ranking of habitat types per habitat group

The ranking of habitat types according to their importance for pollinators within their respective habitat group is presented in the following tables. This ranking is based on the absolute number of plant species classified as important for pollinating insects for all habitat types with more than 50% of their relevant plant species classified as so.

In most cases, high numbers of important plant species for pollinating insects correlate with an overall high number of relevant plant species of the respective habitat type. This is due to the fact that most of the relevant plant species for habitat types of European interest are food sources for insects. For the same reason, it can be argued that habitat types with a high percentage of plant species that could not be classified regarding their importance for pollinators could be of greater importance than actually ranked by the number of plant species classified as important. In a few cases, this fact led to a slight revision of the ranking.

For all habitat groups, the "Top 5 habitat types" (presented in the tables below) are selected according to:

- The total number of relevant plant species;
- The total number of plant species classified as important for pollinators and;
- A high percentage of plant species that could be classified.

For some groups (e.g. Grasslands, Forests, etc.), more habitat types are listed in addition to the Top 5 as they also provide remarkable food sources due to their high number of important plant species.

**Grassland habitat types** appear to be of outstanding importance for all kinds of pollinating insects. The species richest habitat types (**6210**, **6430**, **6170**, **6510** and **6230**) have been Top 5 ranked, although there are many other habitat types important to pollinators. Westrich (2018) published an estimation of grassland habitats important for wild bees, which is supporting the ranking of this report. According to Westrich's estimation, habitat types 6420 and 6120 are also classified as important for wild bees, together with to 6210, 6430 and 6510.

The percentage of plant species that could be classified regarding their importance for pollinators is very high for the Top 5 ranked habitat types (between 83% to 95%). Also, for the other important habitat types, this percentage is higher than 75% (with one exception for 6220) (see Table 7).

Habitat Code	Description	Total number plant species	Total number important plant species	% important plant species	% plant species not yet classified	% plant species classified
		Top 5 habitat	types			
6210	Semi-natural dry grasslands and scrubland facies on calcareous substrates ( <i>Festuco-Brometalia</i> ) (* important orchid sites)	605	466	77,0%	10,7%	89,3%
6430	Hydrophilous tall herb fringe communities of plains and of the montane to alpine levels	447	355	79,4%	10,3%	89,7%
6170	Alpine and subalpine calcareous grasslands	396	262	66,2%	16,7%	83,3%
6510	Lowland hay meadows (Alopecurus pratensis, Sanguisorba officinalis)	305	240	78,7%	5,9%	94,1%
6230	Species-rich Nardus grasslands, on silicious substrates in mountain areas (and submountain areas in Continental Europe)	316	220	69,6%	10,1%	89,9%
	Other habi	tat types impor	tant for pollina	tors		
6520	Mountain hay meadows	287	223	77,7%	9,4%	90,6%
6240	Sub-Pannonic steppic grasslands	268	196	73,1%	9,7%	90,3%
6410	<i>Molinia</i> meadows on calcareous, peaty or clayey-silt-laden soils ( <i>Molinion caeruleae</i> )	238	195	81,9%	8,0%	92,0%
6110	Rupicolous calcareous or basophilic grasslands of the <i>Alysso-Sedion albi</i>	235	152	64,7%	23,8%	76,2%
6220	Pseudo-steppe with grasses and annuals of the <i>Thero-</i> Brachypodietea	191	89	46,6%	28,3%	71,7%
6150	Siliceous alpine and boreal grasslands	170	112	65,9%	12,4%	87,6%
6190	Rupicolous pannonic grasslands (Stipo-Festucetalia pallentis)	157	101	64,3%	19,1%	80,9%
6440	Alluvial meadows of river valleys of the <i>Cnidion dubii</i>	151	125	82,8%	5,3%	94,7%
62A0	Eastern sub-Mediterranean dry grasslands (Scorzoneratalia villosae)	149	98	65,8%	18,8%	81,2%

#### Table 7: Natural and semi-natural grasslands habitats

6120	Xeric sand calcareous grasslands	148	102	68,9%	12,2%	87,8%
6420	Mediterranean tall humid grasslands of the <i>Molinio-Holoschoenion</i>	129	75	58,1%	20,2%	79,8%
6250	Pannonic loess steppic grasslands	107	72	67,3%	17,8%	82,2%
6130	Calaminarian grasslands of the Violetalia calaminariae	96	56	58,3%	18,8%	81,2%
62C0	Ponto-Sarmatic steppes	96	44	45,8%	20,8%	79,2%
6260	Pannonic sand steppes	93	63	67,7%	10,8%	89,2%
6530	Fennoscandian wooded meadows	87	74	85,1%	5,7%	94,3%

Among the **Sclerophyllous scrub** habitat types, **5130** is by far the top ranked habitat type with a number of important plant species comparable to grassland habitats and a very low percentage of not classified plant species. This habitat 5130 *Juniperus communis* formations on heaths or calcareous grasslands, occurs often in a spatial mosaic with 6210 Semi-natural dry grasslands and scrubland facies on calcareous substrates. Other habitat types (**5330, 5110**) are also characterized by a very high or high number of entomophilous plant species. The Top 5 habitat types is completed by **5210** and **5420**.

The percentage of plant species classified according to their importance is very high (between 84% to 94%) for three of the Top ranked habitat types, and quite acceptable for 5330 and 5210 (about 60-70%) (see Table 8).

Habitat Code	Description	Total number plant species	Total number important plant species	% important plant species	% plant species not yet classified	% plant species classified		
Top 5 habitat types								
5130	Juniperus communis formations on heaths or calcareous grasslands	504	404	80,2%	6%	94,0%		
5330	Thermo-Mediterranean and pre- desert scrub	218	141	64,7%	29,8%	70,2%		
5110	Stable xerothermophilous formations with <i>Buxus sempervirens</i> on rock slopes ( <i>Berberidion</i> p.p.)	131	100	76,3%	14,5%	85,5%		
5210	Arborescent matorral with Juniperus spp.	133	78	58,6%	28,6%	71,4%		
5420	Sarcopoterium spinosum phryganas	88	68	77,3%	15,9%	84,1%		
Other habitat types important for pollinators								
5430	Endemic phryganas of the Euphorbio-Verbascion	81	62	76,5%	14,8%	85,2%		

#### Table 8: Sclerophyllous scrubs (matorral) habitats

Many total numbers of important plant species for pollinators found in the Top 5 **Temperate heath and scrub** habitat group are comparable with those of the Sclerophyllous scrubs and the group of "other important grassland habitat types" (except the Top 5 ranked grassland habitat types).

The percentage of classified plant species is quite high (between 81% and 94%). **4030**, **40A0**, **4060**, **4090** and **4070** are the top 5 habitat types in this group (see Table 9). Top ranking of 4030 is supported by an estimation of European dry heath as important for wild bees (Westrich 2018).

Habitat Code	Description	Total number plant species	Total number important plant species	% important plant species	% plant species not yet classified	% plant species classified		
Top 5 habitat types								
4030	European dry heaths	242	174	71,9%	9,1%	90,9%		
40A0	Subcontinental peri-Pannonic scrub	175	144	82,3%	8,6%	91,4%		
4060	Alpine and Boreal heaths	203	136	67,0%	15,3%	84,7%		
4090	Endemic oro-Mediterranean heaths with gorse	164	118	72,0%	18,9%	81,1%		
4070	Bushes with Pinus mugo and Rhododendron hirsutum (Mugo- Rhododendretum hirsuti)	103	80	77,7%	5,8%	94,2%		
Other habitat types important for pollinators								
4080	Sub-Arctic Salix spp. scrub	103	79	76,7%	5,8%	94,2%		
4010	Northern Atlantic wet heaths with Erica tetralix	55	40	72,7%	7,3%	92,7%		

#### Table 9:Temperate heath and scrubs habitats

The numbers of entomophilous plant species characteristic of the top three habitat types related to **Raised bogs, mires and fens** are comparable to those presented above for temperate heath and scrubs (see Table 10). The number of plant species classified according to their importance for pollinating insects is very high for **7140**, **7210** and **7120** (more than 90%) and high for **7230** and **7220** (equal or more than 80%).

Table 10:	Raised bogs, mires and fens	habitats
-----------	-----------------------------	----------

Habitat Code	Description	Total number plant species	Total number important plant species	% important plant species	% plant species not yet classified	% plant species classified	
Top 5 habitat types							
7230	Alkaline fens	225	167	74,2%	15,1%	84,9%	
7140	Transition mires and quaking bogs	199	150	75,4%	9,0%	91,0%	
7210	Calcareous fens with Cladium mariscus and species of the Caricion davallianae	129	101	78,3%	9,3%	90,7%	
7220	Petrifying springs with tufa formation (Cratoneurion)	119	82	68,9%	20,2%	79,8%	
7120	Degraded raised bogs still capable of natural regeneration	80	65	81,3%	7,5%	92,5%	

The Top 5 ranked **Forest habitat types** (**91E0**, **9180**, **91F0**, **9150** and **9170**) have a high number of entomophilous plant species, comparable to some of the grassland habitats (see Table 11). But it is necessary to keep in mind that those value of plant species richness are in most cases restricted to forest edges, glades and clearings. Dense forest areas are indeed of less species richness.

Furthermore, same as for some rocky habitats (e.g. 8210), several forest habitat types include a high number of sub-types. For example, 91E0 Alluvial forests with *Alnus glutinosa* and *Fraxinus excelsior* 

covers Ash-alder woods of springs and their rivers, Ash-alder woods of fast-flowing rivers, Ash-alder woods of slow-flowing rivers, Montane grey alder galleries, Sub-montane grey alder galleries or White willow gallery forests. Therefore, the high number of characteristic species (404) reflects some kind of an aggregated species pool over all subtypes. The same situation can be assumed with 9180 *Tilio-Acerion* forests of slopes, screes and ravines, as well as with 91F0 Riparian mixed forests of *Quercus robur*, *Ulmus laevis* and *Ulmus minor*, *Fraxinus excelsior* or *Fraxinus angustifolia* along the great rivers. The latter habitat type forms often mosaic vegetation with pioneer or stable forests of soft wood trees.

The percentage of classified plant species is very high for the Top 5 ranked habitat types (equal or more than 90%) and high for all other listed important forest habitat types (between 77% and 95%).

Habitat Code	Description	Total number plant species	Total number important plant species	% important plant species	% plant species not yet classified	% plant species classified
		Top 5 habitat	types			
91E0	Alluvial forests with Alnus glutinosa and Fraxinus excelsior (Alno-Padion, Alnion incanae, Salicion albae)	404	317	78,5%	9,4%	90,6%
9180	<i>Tilio-Acerion</i> forests of slopes, screes and ravines	301	232	77,1%	8,3%	91,7%
91F0	Riparian mixed forests of Quercus robur, Ulmus laevis and Ulmus minor, Fraxinus excelsior or Fraxinus angustifolia, along the great rivers (Ulmenion minoris)	249	199	79,9%	10,0%	90,0%
9150	Medio-European limestone beech forests of the Cephalanthero-Fagion	233	196	84,1%	7,7%	92,3%
9170	Galio-Carpinetum oak-hornbeam forests	236	195	82,6%	7,2%	92,8%
	Other habit	tat types impor	tant for pollinat	tors		
9110	Euro-Siberian steppic woods with <i>Quercus spp.</i>	217	171	78,8%	11,1%	88,9%
9130	Asperulo-Fagetum beech forests	208	171	82,2%	4,3%	95,7%
9160	Sub-Atlantic and medio-European oak or oak-hornbeam forests of the <i>Carpinion betuli</i>	206	169	82,0%	4,9%	95,1%
91U0	Sarmatic steppe pine forest	176	144	81,8%	4,5%	95,5%
91G0	Pannonic woods with Quercus petraea and Carpinus betulus	170	138	81,2%	11,8%	88,2%
91H0	Pannonian woods with Quercus pubescens	155	125	80,6%	10,3%	89,7%
9260	Castanea sativa woods	143	112	78,3%	11,9%	88,1%
9530	(Sub-) Mediterranean pine forests with endemic black pines	163	108	66,3%	22,7%	77,3%

#### Table 11:Forests habitats

The Top 5 habitat types of **Coastal sand dunes and inland dunes** (**2190**, **2130**, **2330**, **2260**, **2180**) are as plant species rich as raised bogs and mires, or some heath and scrub habitat types. In the literature, it is stated that habitat types 2130 and 2310 are important habitat types for wild bees (Westrich

(2918), which is partly supporting the ranking of this report. The percentage of classified plant species according to their importance for pollinating insects is high (between 77% and 93%) (see Table 12).

Habitat Code	Description	Total number plant species	Total number important plant species	% important plant species	% plant species not yet classified	% plant species classified
		Top 5 habitat	types			
2190	Humid dune slacks	202	139	68,8%	13,9%	86,1%
2130	Fixed coastal dunes with herbaceous vegetation ("grey dunes')	227	131	57,75	22,5%	77,5%
2330	Inland dunes with open Corynephorus and Agrostis grasslands	139	100	71,9%	6,5%	93,5%
2260	Cisto-Lavenduletalia dune sclerophyllous scrubs	107	85	79,4%	14,0%	86,0%
2180	Wooded dunes of the Atlantic, Continental and Boreal region	100	69	69,0%	10,0%	90,0%
Other habitat types important for pollinators						
2310	Dry sand heaths with Calluna and Genista	71	50	70,4%	4,2%	95,8%
2170	Dunes with Salix repens ssp. argentea (Salicion arenariae)	55	42	76,4%	0%	100,0%

Table 12:	Coastal sand dunes and inland dunes habitats

**Coastal and halophytic** habitat types have a lower richness of entomophilous plants than the other habitat types discussed above. The Top 5 ranked habitat types in this group are **1230**, **1240**, **1130**, **1330**, and **1410**. But, for some of them, the percentage of plant species classified is lower than for the habitat types of other groups. Therefore, it can be assumed that the numbers of important plant species would rise if more plant species could be classified according to their importance for pollinating insects. Nevertheless, coastal and halophytic habitat types should be described as not as species rich as the other habitat types mentioned above (see Table 13).

#### Table 13:Coastal and halophytic habitats

Habitat Code	Description	Total number plant species	Total number important plant species	% important plant species	% plant species not yet classified	% plant species classified		
	Top 5 habitat types							
1230	Vegetated sea cliffs of the Atlantic and Baltic Coasts	153	116	75,8%	13,1%	86,9%		
1240	Vegetated sea cliffs of the Mediterranean coasts with endemic <i>Limonium spp</i> .	149	56	37,6%	56,4%	43,6%		
1130	Estuaries	126	60	47,6%	30,2%	69,8%		
1330	Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco- Puccinellietalia maritimae)	97	55	56,7%	18,6%	81,4%		
1410	Mediterranean salt meadows (Juncetalia maritimi)	132	55	41,7%	25,8%	74,2%		
Other habitat types important for pollinators								

1160	Large shallow inlets and bays	152	54	35,5%	48,7%	51,3%
1340	Inland salt meadows	98	54	55,1%	18,4%	81,6%
1530	Pannonic salt steppes and salt marshes	100	50	50,0%	22,0%	78,0%

Richness of entomophilous plant species in **Freshwater** habitat types is comparable to coastal and halophytic habitat types, which is lower than for the other habitat groups represented above. The percentage of classified plant species for the Top 5 ranked habitat types (**3130**, **3220**, **3270**, **3240**, and **3160**) is moderate (between 75% and 89%) (see Table 14).

Table 14: Fre	eshwater habitats
---------------	-------------------

Habitat Code	Description	Total number plant species	Total number important plant species	% important plant species	% plant species not yet classified	% plant species classified	
Top 5 habitat types							
3130	Oligotrophic to mesotrophic standing waters with vegetation of the Littorelletea uniflorae and/or of the Isoëto-Nanojuncetea	216	111	51,4%	27,8%	72,2%	
3220	Alpine rivers and the herbaceous vegetation along their banks	100	76	76,0%	12%	88,0%	
3270	Rivers with muddy banks with <i>Chenopodion rubri p.p.</i> and <i>Bidention p.p.</i> vegetation	113	72	63,7%	22,1%	77,9%	
3240	Alpine rivers and their ligneous vegetation with Salix elaeagnos	88	63	71,6%	11,4%	88,6%	
3160	Natural dystrophic lakes and ponds	74	51	68,9%	24,3%	75,7%	

The Top 5 ranked **Rocky habitat types** are **8210**, **8220**, **8240**, **8120** and **8230**. The high rank of 8210 is supported by an estimation of Calcareous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation as important for wild bees (Westrich 2018) (see Table 15). The richness of entomophilous plant species according to the numbers of classified plants in these habitats seems to be comparable to that of heath and scrub habitats.

This species richness is due to a high proportion of local or regional endemic plant species, or plants restricted to specific biotopes. Since some rocky habitats (e.g. 8210, 8220 and 8130) are represented by a high number of subtypes, the richness of entomophilous plant species need to be allocated to different spatial areas. This leads to a lower plant species richness in the local habitats. Therefore, the numbers of plant species classified as important for pollinators displayed for some of the habitat types in Table 15 are overestimating the species richness in certain habitat types.

Habitat Code	Description	Total number plant species	Total number important plant species	% important plant species	% plant species not yet classified	% plant species classified
Top 5 habitat types						
8210	Calcareous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation	404	227	56,2%	30,2%	69,8%

8220	Siliceous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation	356	148	41,6%	36,2%	63,8%
8240	Limestone pavements	179	129	72,1%	9,5%	90,5%
8120	Calcareous and calcshist screes of the montane to alpine levels (Thlaspietea rotundifolii)	216	123	56,9%	25,0%	75,0%
8230	Siliceous rock with pioneer vegetation of the Sedo-Scleranthion or of the Sedo albi-Veronicion dillenii	189	116	61,4%	21,7%	78,3%
Other habitat types important for pollinators						
8130	Western Mediterranean and thermophilous scree	208	103	49,5%	40,4%	59,6%
8110	Siliceous scree of the montane to snow levels (Androsacetalia alpinae and Galeopsietalia ladani)	148	82	55,4%	18,2%	81,8%

# **3.4** Reviewing the habitat type ranking with improved species lists

### 3.4.1 Improvement of habitat type species lists

After a thorough examination of the list of typical species of Annex I habitat types used by the EU MS, it appears that many of the species cannot be defined as "typical". Therefore, we assessed the effect of the revision of the compiled data set under phytosociological aspects for some selected habitat types. After this revision, the species list was reduced by about 30 % (habitat 8210) up to 65 % (habitat 6210), with species that were not identified as "typical". However, some additional species showing a high constancy and a close link to the habitats had to be added (see Table 16).

Additionally, a weighting factor related to species abundance was assigned to the revised species in these selected habitat types. There is a reduction of 46% (habitat 6510) up to 73% (habitat 8220) compared to the original complete list of all vascular plants. In such a weighted analysis, near-natural grassland (6210, 6510) show a higher species number than rocky and forest habitats. Habitat 8220 and 9150 dropped down under 100 whereas all others are above this number.

Table 16:	Selected habitat types with a revised and weighted species list
-----------	---

Habitat Code	Name	Previous number of species	Revised number of species	Revised and weighted number of species
6210	Semi-natural dry grasslands and scrubland facies on calcareous substrates (Festuco-Brometalia)	605	208	168
6510	Lowland hay meadows (Alopecurus pratensis, Sanguisorba officinalis)	305	168	165
8210	Calcareous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation	404	283	133
8220	Siliceous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation	356	194	97
9130	Asperulo-Fagetum beech forests	208	115	101
9150	Medio-European limestone beech forests of the Cephalanthero-Fagion	233	93	82

In all three analysis steps (complete list, revised, revised and weighted), **near-natural grassland** (6210, 6510) as well as **forests** (9130, 9150) show a high proportion of plant species classified as important for pollinators, and a small proportion of not yet classified species.

On the other hand, **rocky habitat types** (8210, 8220) show a medium proportion of species classified as important for pollinators, and a high proportion of not yet classified species (see Table 17). Indeed, Calcareous and Siliceous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation are characterized by regional endemic species with unknown status for pollinator importance, as well as by fern richness which are generally not important for pollinator insects due to their way of reproduction.

Habitat	tat Total Plant species classified as important for pollinators Plant species classified as not important for pollinators		Species class	not yet ified			
code	count	number	%	number	%	number	%
			Complete	species list			
6210	605	466	77,0%	74	12,2%	65	10,7%
6510	305	240	78,7%	47	15,4%	18	5,9%
8210	404	227	56,2%	55	13,6%	122	30,2%
8220	356	148	41,6%	79	22,2%	129	36,2%
9130	208	171	82,2%	28	13,5%	9	4,3%
9150	233	196	84,1%	19	8,2%	18	7,7%
			Revised	species list			
6210	208	183	88,0%	22	10,6%	3	1,4%
6510	168	134	79,8%	30	17,9%	4	2,4%
8210	283	152	53,7%	45	15,9%	86	30,4%
8220	194	58	29,9%	61	31,4%	75	38,7%
9130	115	95	82,6%	18	15,7%	2	1,7%
9150	93	84	90,3%	7	7,5%	2	2,2%
			Revised and we	ighted species list			
6210	168	83	83,9%	13	14,7%	1	1,4%
6510	165	66	76,5%	18	21,5%	2	2,0%
8210	133	56	52,4%	20	20,0%	31	27,7%
8220	97	23	31,3%	26	36,1%	27	32,6%
9130	101	45	82,2%	9	15,8%	1	2,0%
9150	82	40	90,6%	4	8,6%	1	0,8%

# Table 17:Comparison of importance for pollinator classes share in the complete species list,<br/>revised species list and revised and weighted species list

In summary, based on analysis using the 3 species list (complete species list, revised species list and revised and weighted species list):

- **Near-natural grasslands habitat types** importance for pollinator is confirmed by high proportion of plant species classified as important, high vascular plant richness and a medium to high abundance of these species.
- **Rocky habitats** are species rich with a high proportion of local endemic plants, mostly with a low abundance.

• **Forest habitats** show a medium species richness, but with a high proportion of plant species classified as important for pollinators.

Therefore, it can be concluded that using only the complete compiled species data of Annex I habitat types provides acceptable results for classifying the importance of habitat types for pollinators, despite the heterogeneity of the typical species reported by the MS in the Article 17 report in the period 2007 - 2012.

Figures 1-4 display a comparison of total species counts, percentages of important and not important species, and percentages of species not classified, for selected habitat types based on the data derived from the "all species list", "revised species list", and "revised and weighted species list" as described in the table above.



Figure 1: Comparison of total species count of selected habitat types: all species, revised species, revised and weighted species



Figure 2: Comparison of the percentage of important for pollinators: all species, revised species, revised and weighted species



Figure 3: Percentage of species classified as not important for pollinators: all species, revised species, revised and weighted species



Figure 4: Percentage of species not yet classified: all species, revised species, revised and weighted species

# **3.5** Additional parameters to assess the importance of habitat types of European Interest for pollinating insects

In addition to the number of plant species providing food sources for pollinators and their abundance in a certain habitat type, there are further parameters which should be considered to decide about the importance of a habitat type for pollinating insects. In the following paragraphs, two of these parameters are shortly highlighted: Flowering and phenology, and spatial distribution of habitat types.

### 3.5.1 Flowering and phenology

Plants and their pollinators can interact only when their "active stages" (open flowers, active visitors) co-occur spatially and temporally. Because the active stages of species are not distributed homogeneously throughout the activity season, the impact of species on network structure and dynamics will depend on their temporal position. In most systems, few flowering plant species and few animal species are active at the beginning and the end of the activity season, with an activity peak in the middle (Ramos–Jiliberto et al. 2018).

To illustrate the differences between different habitat types, we selected some of them as examples. However, not enough data are available about the flowering period of all the important plant species for a wider inclusion of this parameter in a thorough assessment of habitat types importance for pollinators. That is the reason why this parameter was not integrated into our assessment.

Table 18 gives an overview of the median and average of the month in which the blossom of species starts or ends per habitat group. Related information is provided by BiolFlor database.

# Table 18:Parameters of blossom start and end per habitat group (numbers are related to<br/>month; e.g. 2 as February), based upon Biolflor database

Habitat group	median minimum blossom start	mean blossom start	mean blossom end	median maximum blossom end
Coastal and halophytic habitats	5	6,1	8,5	10
Coastal sand dunes and inland dunes	3	5,5	7,7	10
Freshwater habitats	4	5,8	8,2	10
Temperate heath and scrub	3	5,5	7,5	10
Sclerophyllous scrub (matorral)	3	5,4	7,8	10
Natural and semi-natural grassland formations	3	5,5	7,5	10
Raised bogs and mires and fens	3	5,5	7,1	10
Rocky habitats and caves	3	5,5	7,9	10
Forests	2	5,0	6,4	10

Existing climatic differentiations in a larger geographical area have a considerable influence on the phenology. Thus, plants can be classified into symphenological groups, i.e. groups of plants that bloom together. Figures 5-9 show examples of symphenological species groups percentage in selected habitat types, where phenology information is available for more than 50 % of the species.



#### Figure 5: Symphenological groups in coastal and halophytic habitat type examples

Some of the **Coastal and halophytic** habitat types have mainly species flowering in the summer season. The main symphenological groups are "Start of early summer" up to "midsummer". This habitat group almost does not provide any pollination service in autumn. Some of the habitat types

have a significant share of species in the respective early spring season (e.g. 1130, 1150, 1210, 1220, 1230, 1240 and 1530). This habitat group covers a high variety of different ecosystems, like open sea and tidal areas, sea cliffs and shingle or stony beaches, Atlantic and Continental salt marshes and salt meadows, Mediterranean and thermo-Atlantic saltmarshes and salt meadows, salt and gypsum inland steppes as well as boreal Baltic archipelago, coastal and land upheaval areas.

For example, the habitat type 1230 Vegetated sea cliffs of the Atlantic and Baltic coasts correspond to the most exposed cliffs. There is a zonation from crevice and ledge communities of the steepest slopes beside the sea, through to closed maritime grasslands on upper cliff slopes, cliff tops and cliff ledges where there is deeper accumulation of soils. Further inland and on more sheltered cliffs, these grade into a complex assemblage of maritime and para-maritime types of heath, calcareous grassland, acid grassland, therophyte, tall herb, scrub and wind-pruned woodland vegetation, each enriched by floristic elements characteristic of coastal habitats. On soft coasts with much active movement, complex assemblages of maritime and non-maritime vegetation occur.

Up to 40 % of the species belong to the Spring symphenological group, equally distributed between pre and early-spring groups, and mid spring groups. About 60% of the vascular species of this habitat are part of the summer symphenological groups, and only a small portion belong to the early autumn group.

The habitat type 1610 Baltic esker islands with sandy, rocky and shingle beach vegetation and sublittoral vegetation includes glaciofluvial islands consisting mainly of relatively well sorted sand, gravel or less commonly of till. The vegetation of esker islands is influenced by the brackish water environment and often by the ongoing land upheaval, which causes a succession of different vegetation types. In comparison to 1230, there is a shift to a higher share of mid spring species. The symphenological groups Start of early summer, End of early summer and Midsummer are equally distributed with a proportion of approx. 20%.



Figure 6: Symphenological groups in coastal sand dunes and inland dunes examples

Within the examples of **Coastal sand dunes and inland dunes** (habitat types 2140 Decalcified fixed dunes with *Empetrum nigrum*, 2160 Dunes with *Hippophae rhamnoides*, 21A0 Machairs, 2310 Dry sand heaths with *Calluna and Genista* and 2320 Dry sand heaths with *Calluna* and *Empetrum nigrum*), the share of the spring symphenological groups cover a range from about 30% to 70%. Habitat type 2320 is characterized by a strong representation of annuals. This habitat group covers coastal dunes of the Atlantic, North Sea and Baltic coasts, coastal dunes of the Mediterranean Sea as well as old and decalcified inland dunes.

The habitat types 2140, 2310, 2320 show a small share of species in the Early autumn group. *Calluna vulgaris* of the Ericaceae family, which is well known as important for pollinators, is one of these species with a flowering period later in the vegetation period. *Empetrum nigrum*, another Ericaceae species, is also a characteristic species for 2140 and 2320.



#### Figure 7: Symphenological groups in temperate heath and scrub examples

Habitat types of the **Temperate heaths and scrub** group present a high percentage of spring flowering species. There is also a significant percentage of autumn flowering species, which provide pollination service in the late period of the year.

4010 Northern Atlantic wet heaths with *Erica tetralix* includes humid, peaty or semi-peaty heaths, other than blanket bogs, of the Atlantic and sub-Atlantic domains. *Erica tetralix* forms the structural vegetation matrix of 4010. Besides Pre-spring and Autumn flowering species, all symphenological groups in spring and summer are represented in a more or less even share.

40A0 Subcontinental peri-Pannonic scrub covers low deciduous scrub with continental and sub mediterranean affinities of the Pannonic basin and neighbouring regions including the eastern Alpine periphery, the southern periphery of the Northwestern Carpathians, the Transylvanian plateau and the adjacent foothills and valleys of the Eastern and Southern Carpathians and the Apuseni mountains, the southern periphery of the Pannonic basin, the Moravian plateau and to the hills and valleys of the

northern Balkan peninsula. It forms mosaic-like vegetation with steppe grassland (6210) and foreststeppe elements or plants of the rupicolous Pannonic grasslands (6190) often along the fringes of woodlands. Besides species in the autumn flowering phase, all symphenological groups in spring and summer are present. In comparison to 4010, there is a shift to a higher share of the summer symphenological groups.



#### Figure 8: Symphenological groups in natural and semi-natural grassland formation examples

The habitat group of **Natural and semi-natural grassland formations** covers a wide range of supgroups (natural grassland, semi-natural dry grasslands and srubland facies, sclerophyllous grazed forest (dehesas), semi-natural tall-herb humid meadows, mesophile grassland) situated from the lowlands up to the alpine belt in the European mountain ranges.

6270 Fennoscandian lowland species-rich dry to mesic grasslands occurs in the Fennoscandian lowlands varying from dry to mesic grasslands mainly on siliceous substrates. The vegetation is formed by long-term continuous grazing and/or mowing. The habitat type often supports species-rich vascular plant communities. 6410 *Molinia* meadows on calcareous, peaty or clayey-siltladen soils (*Molinion caeruleae*) includes meadows of plain to montane levels, on more or less wet nutrient poor soils. 6440 Alluvial meadows of river valleys of the *Cnidion dubii* includes alluvial meadows with natural flooding regime belonging to the *Cnidion dubii* alliance, under continental to subcontinental climatic conditions.

6450 Northern boreal alluvial meadows occurs along large rivers with placid river sections which are frozen every winter; the type is affected by flooding in spring. 6510 Lowland hay meadows (*Alopecurus pratensis, Sanguisorba officinalis*) includes species-rich hay meadows on slightly to moderately fertilised soils of the plain to submontane levels, belonging to the Arrhenatherion and the Brachypodio-Centaureion nemoralis alliances. These extensive grasslands are rich in flowers. 6530 Fennoscandian wooded meadows is built by a vegetation complex consisting of small copses of

deciduous trees and shrubs and patches of open meadows. These meadows are species-rich vegetation complexes with rare and threatened species.

For these grassland examples, important symphenological groups are Mid spring as well as Early and Midsummer. The share of autumnal symphenological species groups is in the most cases zero or very low.



#### Figure 9: Symphenological groups in forest examples

The **Forest** habitat group has a big proportion of species, which are flowering in the (early) spring season. The summer blossom of forest species is less compared to other habitat groups, but there is also a significant autumn blossom in some of the forest habitats.

### 3.5.2 Spatial distribution of habitats

Since the availability of habitat types for pollinators is not only a matter of presence but also of the geographical distribution, we have plotted maps for the three high ranked habitat groups.



#### Figure 10: Aggregated distribution of habitats of the top ranked group "Natural and seminatural grassland formations"

The top ranked "Natural and semi-natural grassland formations" group is widely distributed over Europe and all biogeographical regions providing pollination service over a vast geographical range.



#### Figure 11: Distribution of habitats of the second ranked group "Sclerophyllous scrub"

The 2<sup>nd</sup> ranked habitat group "Sclerophyllous scrub (matorral)" (with its subgroups Sub-Mediterranean and temperate scrub, Mediterranean arborescent matorral, Thermo-Mediterranean and pre-steppe brush and Phrygana) has its spatial core area on the Southern part of Europe, with some dispersed occurrences also in Central Europe.



#### Figure 12: Distribution of habitats of the third ranked group "Temperate heaths and scrub"

The 3<sup>rd</sup> ordered habitat group of "Temperate heath and scrub" is distributed over the whole of Europe, but in a less spatial density than the "Natural and semi-natural grassland formations". Some clusters can be found in mountain regions like the Alps, Pyrenees or Scandinavian mountains and in coastal regions of Western Europe.

# 4 Overall conclusions

- 6.693 plant species were identified as relevant for Annex I habitat types, based on the compilation of the species lists from the *Interpretation manual of European Union Habitats* (European Commission 2013) and the *compilation of typical species used by Member States* to assess the parameter 'Specific structure and functions (including typical species)' for the reporting period 2007-2012.
- Among the 4.700 vascular plant species classified in terms of their importance for pollinators, 3.764 (80 % of classified plant species, 56% of all 6.693 plant species) are identified as important for pollinators.
- Most relevant for habitat types importance for pollinators is its ability to provide food sources (pollen and nectar) and nesting sites, as those are the two essential parameters governing the life cycles of pollinating insects. However, given the difficulty of gathering information about nesting sites abilities, and according to the correlation between plant species richness and pollinating insect species richness in habitats shown in the literature, plant species richness is the best suitable proxy variable to assess the habitat type importance for pollinators.
- Additionally, abundance of entomophilous plant species and data on flowering periods are valuable parameter to get more refined results in assessing the importance of habitat types for pollinators.
- Grassland, Sclerophyllous scrubs and Temperate heath are the top three ranked habitat groups according to their importance for pollinating insects.
- Both the distribution (10x10km grid cells) and the overall habitat type area (km<sup>2</sup>), within a given biogeographical region or within the whole EU, may be used as additional indicators to decide the ranking of habitat types regarding their importance for pollinating insects.
- In order to get a better database for deciding on the richness of entomophilous plant species of certain habitat types, the compilation of typical species of Annex I habitats should be improved.

# **5** References

### 5.1 General references

Dierschke, H. 1995. Phänologische und symphänologische Artengruppen von Blütenpflanzen in Mitteleuropa. – Tuexenia 15: 523-560.

Lieth, H. 1974. Phenology and seasonality modeling. Springer, Berlin, 444p.

Trefflich, A., Klotz, St. & Kühn, I. 2002. Blühphänologie. Bundesamt für Naturschutz. Schriftenreihe für Vegetationskunde, H. 38, 127–131.

### 5.2 Taxonomic lists

Bernardos, S., Crespi, A., Aguiar, C., Fernández, J. & Amich, F. (2004): The plant communities of the Rumici indurati-Dianthion lusitani alliance in the Lusitan Duriensean biogeographical sector (NE Portugal and CW Spain), Acta Botanica Gallica, 151:2, 147-164, DOI: 10.1080/12538078.2004.10516030

Biondi, E. & Casavecchia, S. & Zuccarello, V. (1997): The Potentilletalia caulescentis Br.-Bl. In Br.-Bl. Et Jenny 1926 order in Italy. COLLOQUES PHYTOSOCIOLOGIQUES. XXVII.

BirdLife International 2015. European Red List of Birds. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communties.

Calcaiura, B. & Spinelli, O. (2008): MANAGEMENT of Natura 2000 habitats \* Semi-natural dry grasslands (Festuco-Brometalia) 6210. European Commission, Technical Report 2008 12/12: 38 pp.

Camarda, I., Lucchese, F., Pignatti, E., & Pignatti, S. (1995): La vegetazione dell'area Pantaleo-Gutturu Mannu-Punta Maxia-Monte Arcosu nel Sulcis-Iglesiente (Sardegna sud-occidentale). Webbia, Vol. 49 (2), p. 141-177.

Carmona, E.C., Luque, M.M. & Tendero, F.V. (1997): The plant communities of the Asplenietea trichomanis in the SW Iberian Peninsula. Folia Geobot. Phytotax. 32, 361–376. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02821942

Cox, N.A. & Temple, H.J. 2009. European Red List of Reptiles. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities.

Cuttelod, A., Seddon, M. & Neubert, E. 2011. European Red List of Non-marine Molluscs. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

Dakskobler, I. & Martinčič, A. & Rojšek, D. (2014): Phytosociological Analysis of Communities With Adiantum Capillusveneris In The Foothills Of The Julian Alps (Western Slovenia). Hacquetia. 13. 10.2478/hacq-2014-0016.

Dakskobler, I. & Surina, B. (2016): Phytosociological analysis of alpine swards and heathlands (pioneer patches) on ridges and peaks in the Julian Alps (NW Slovenia). Hacquetia. 16/1 • 2017, 49–171.

Dimopoulos, P., Sýkora, K.V., Mucina, L. & Georgiadis, Th. (1997): The high-rank syntaxa of the rockcliff and scree vegetation of the mainland Greece and Crete. Folia Geobot 32, 313–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02804010

EcoDB (2020): Red Data Book of the Republic of Bulgaria. Digital edition.Internet: Internet: <u>http://e-ecodb.bas.bg/rdb/en/</u> Access: 2020/03/08.

EDIT (2020): Flora of Cyprus – a dynamic checklist. European Distributed Institute of Taxonomy. Internet: <u>http://www.flora-of-cyprus.eu/</u> Access: 2020/03/08.

EEA 2019a. The compilation of typical species used by Member States to assess the parameter 'Specific structure and functions (including typical species)' for the reporting period 2007-2012. Internet: <a href="http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/help/habitats">http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/help/habitats</a> art17/Reporting2019/typical\_species\_2007-2012.xlsx. Access: 2019/05/16.

EEA 2019b. Checklists for Annex I habitat types and Annex II, IV and V species (last updated: 19.04.2019).

Internet: <u>http://cdr.eionet.europa.eu/help/habitats\_art17/Reporting2019/Art17\_checklists.xls</u>. Access: 2019/05/16.

EEA 2019c. Checklist for bird species (last updated: 05.07.2018). Internet: <u>http://biodiversity.eionet.europa.eu/activities/Reporting/Article 12/Reports 2019/Files 2019/art1</u> <u>2 checklist v2 update20180616.xls</u>. Access: 2019/05/16.

Ellenberg, H. (1986): Vegetation Mitteleuropas mit den Alpen in ökologischer Sicht. 4. Auflage. Eugen Ulmer Verlag, 989 pp.

Ellmauer, T. & Mucina, L. (1993): Molinio-Arrhenatheretea. In: Mucina, L.; Grabherr, G. & Ellmauer, T. (Hrsg.): Die Pflanzengesellschaften Österreichs. Teil I - Anthropogene Vegetation, Gustav Fischer Verlag, Jena: 297-401.

Escudero, A. & Pajarón, S. (1994): Numerical syntaxonomy of the Asplenietalia petrarchae in the Iberian Peninsula. Journal of Vegetation Science 5: 205-214, 1994

Euro+Med Plantbase 2019. The information resource for Euro-Mediterranean plant diversity. Internet: http://www.emplantbase.org/home.html. Access: 2019/05/16.

European Commission 2019. Interpretation manual EU 28. Internet: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/legislation/habitatsdirective/docs/Int\_Manual\_EU28.pdf</u>. Access: 2019/05/16.

ETC BD 2010. Links between species listed in Annex II and Annex IV of the Habitat Directive and habitat types. EUROPEAN TOPIC CENTRE ON BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY, Document date: 12.4.2010 Version: 3.1.

Fischer, M.A.; Oswald, K. & Adler, W. (2008): Exkursionsflora für Österreich, Liechtenstein und Südtirol. 3. Auflage. Biologiezentrum des Oberösterreichischen Landesmuseums, 1.391 pp.

Frajman, B. & Thollesson, M. & Oxelman, B. (2013): Taxonomic revision of Atocion and Viscaria (Sileneae, Caryophyllaceae). Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society. 173. 10.1111/boj.12090.

Freyhof, J. & Brooks, E. 2011. European Red List of Freshwater Fishes. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

García Criado, M., Väre, H., Nieto, A., Bento Elias, R., Dyer, R., Ivanenko, Y., Ivanova, D., Lansdown, R., Molina, J.A., Rouhan, G., Rumsey, F., Troia, A., Vrba, J. & Christenhusz, M.J.M. 2017. European Red List of Lycopods and Ferns. Brussels, Belgium: IUCN. iv + 59pp

Gimenez Luque, E. & Gomez Mercado, F. (2002): Rupicolous communities of the southeast of the Iberian Peninsula. Acta Bot. Gallica, 2002, 149 (4), 467-480.

Grims, F. 1999. Die Laubmoose Österreichs. Catalogus Florae Austriae, II. Teil, Bryophyten (Moose), Heft 1, Musci (Laubmoose). Österreichische Akademie der Wissenschaften.

Halada, L., Gajdoš, P. & Oszlányi, J. 2010. Links between species listed in Annex II and Annex IV of the Habitat Directive and habitat types. European Topic Centre on biological diversity. ETC BD task (2019): 1.2.2.B.3.

HBS (2020): Flora of Greece web. Vascular Plants of Greece. An Annotated Checklist. Hellenic Botanical Society. Internet: <u>http://portal.cybertaxonomy.org/flora-greece/intro</u> Access: 2020/03/08.

Hochkirch, A., Nieto, A., García Criado, M., Cálix, M., Braud, Y., Buzzetti, F.M., Chobanov, D., Odé, B., Presa Asensio, J.J., Willemse, L., Zuna-Kratky, T., Barranco Vega, P., Bushell, M., Clemente, M.E., Correas, J.R., Dusoulier, F., Ferreira, S., Fontana, P., García, M.D., Heller, K-G., Iorgu I.Ş., Ivković, S., Kati, V., Kleukers, R., Krištín, A., Lemonnier-Darcemont, M., Lemos, P., Massa, B., Monnerat, C., Papapavlou, K.P., Prunier, F., Pushkar, T., Roesti, C., Rutschmann, F., Şirin, D., Skejo, J., Szövényi, G., Tzirkalli, E., Vedenina, V., Barat Domenech, J., Barros, F., Cordero Tapia, P.J., Defaut, B., Fartmann, T., Gomboc, S., Gutiérrez-Rodríguez, J., Holuša, J., Illich, I., Karjalainen, S., Kočárek, P., Korsunovskaya, O., Liana, A., López, H., Morin, D., Olmo-Vidal, J.M., Puskás, G., Savitsky, V., Stalling, T. & Tumbrinck, J. 2016. European Red List of Grasshoppers, Crickets and Bush-crickets. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

Huemer, P. 2013. Die Schmetterlinge Österreichs (Lepidoptera). Systematische und faunistische Checkliste. Tiroler Landesmuseen, Studiohefte, 12, 1-304.

Info Flora (2020): Info Flora. Das nationale Daten- und Informationszentrum der Schweizer Flora. Internet: <u>https://www.infoflora.ch</u> Access: 2020/03/08.

de Jong, Y. et al. 2014. Fauna Europaea - all European animal species on the web. Biodiversity Data Journal 2: e4034. doi: 10.3897/BDJ.2.e4034. Access: 2019/06/06.

Lechner, K. & Zuna-Kratky 2017. Checkliste der Heuschrecken Österreichs. Denisia, 39, zugleich Kataloge des oberösterreichischen Landesmuseums Neue Serie 184, 181-192.

Marsili, S. & Roccotiello, E. & Rellini, I., Giordani, P., Barberis, G. & Mariotti, M. (2009): Ecological Studies on the Serpentine Endemic Plant Cerastium utriense Barberis. Northeastern Naturalist. 16. 405–421. 10.1656/045.016.0529.

Maroulis, G. & Georgiadis, Th. (2005): The vegetation of supra–forest meadows and rock crevices of Mount Erimanthos (NW Peloponnisos, Greece). Fitosociologia vol. 42 (1): 33-56, 2005.

Moog, O. & A. Hartmann (Eds.) 2017. Fauna Aquatica Austriaca, 3. Lieferung 2017. BMLFUW, Wien.

Mucina, L. & Kolbek, J. (1993): Festuco-Brometea. In: Mucina, L.; Grabherr, G. & Ellmauer, T. (Hrsg.): Die Pflanzengesellschaften Österreichs. Teil I - Anthropogene Vegetation, Gustav Fischer Verlag, Jena: 420-492 pp.

Mucina, L. & Valachovič, M. & Jarolímek, I. & Šeffer, J., Kubinská, A. & Pišút, I. (1990): The vegetation of rock fissures, screes, and snow-beds in the Pirin Planina mountains (Bulgaria). Stud Geobot. Studia Geobotanica. 10. 15-58.

Nicoletti, F. & De Benedetti, L. & Airò, M. & Ruffoni, B. & Mercuri, A. & Minuto, L. & Casazza, G. (2012): Spatial Genetic Structure of Campanula sabatia, a Threatened Narrow Endemic Species of the Mediterranean Basin. Folia Geobotanica. 47. 1-14. 10.1007/s12224-012-9127-z.

Nieto, A. & Alexander, K.N.A. 2010. European Red List of Saproxylic Beetles. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

Nieto, A., Roberts, S.P.M., Kemp, J., Rasmont, P., Kuhlmann, M., García Criado, M., Biesmeijer, J.C., Bogusch, P., Dathe, H.H., De la Rúa, P., De Meulemeester, T., Dehon, M., Dewulf, A., Ortiz-Sánchez, F.J., Lhomme, P., Pauly, A., Potts, S.G., Praz, C., Quaranta, M., Radchenko, V.G., Scheuchl, E., Smit, J., Straka, J., Terzo, M., Tomozii, B., Window, J. & Michez, D. 2014. European Red List of bees. Luxembourg: Publication Office of the European Union.

Nieto, A., Ralph, G.M., Comeros-Raynal, M.T., Kemp, J., García Criado, M., Allen, D.J., Dulvy, N.K., Walls, R.H.L., Russell, B., Pollard, D., García, S., Craig, M., Collette, B.B., Pollom, R., Biscoito, M., Labbish Chao, N., Abella, A., Afonso, P., Álvarez, H., Carpenter, K.E., Clò, S., Cook, R., Costa, M.J., Delgado, J., Dureuil, M., Ellis, J.R., Farrell, E.D., Fernandes, P.,Florin, A-B., Fordham, S., Fowler, S., Gil de Sola, L., Gil Herrera, J., Goodpaster, A., Harvey, M., Heessen, H., Herler, J., Jung, A., Karmovskaya, E., Keskin, C., Knudsen, S.W., Kobyliansky, S., Kovačić, M., Lawson, J.M., Lorance, P., McCully Phillips, S., Munroe, T., Nedreaas, K., Nielsen, J., Papaconstantinou, C., Polidoro, B., Pollock, C.M., Rijnsdorp, A.D., Sayer, C., Scott, J., Serena, F., Smith-Vaniz, W.F., Soldo, A., Stump, E. & Williams, J.T. 2015. European Red List of marine fishes. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

Oberdorfer, E. (Hrsg.) 1977. Süddeutsche Pfanzengesellschaften. Teil I. Gustav Fischer Verlag.

Ortiz, S. & Rodríguez-Oubiña, J. (1993): Synopsis of the rupicolous vegetation of Galicia (North-western Iberian Peninsula). Folia geobot. phytotax. 28, 15–49. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02853199

Pavlin, M. & Brus, R. & Dakskobler, I. (2015): Localities and sites os the southeastern-Alpine endemic Spiraea decumbens Koch in Breginjski Kot (northwestern Slovenia). Acta Silvae et Ligni. 107. 1-14. 10.20315/ASetL.107.1.

SPB (2020): flora on. Acores – Continente – Madeira. Sociedade Portuguesa de Botânica. Internet: <u>https://flora-on.pt/</u> Access: 2020/03/08.

Surina, B. & Martinčič, A. (2014): Ecology and niche assembly of Campanula tommasiniana, a narrow endemic of Mt Učka (Liburnian karst, north-western Adriatic). Acta Botanica Croatica. 73. 10.2478/botcro-2013-0015.

Swierkosz, K. (2012): Occurrence and diagnostic value of the Polypodium vulgare L. complex in the communities of Asplenietea trichomanis (Br..Bl. in Meier & Br.-Bl. 1934) Oberd. 1977 class in Polish Sudety Mts and their foreland. In: E. Szczêdniak, E. Gola (eds), Genus Polypodium L. in Poland. Polish Botanical Society, Wroclaw, p. 71-91.S

Temple, H.J. & Terry, A. (Compilers). 2007. The Status and Distribution of European Mammals. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities.

Temple, H.J. & Cox, N.A. 2009. European Red List of Amphibians. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities.

Terzi, M. & D'Amico, F. (2008). Chasmophytic vegetation of the class Asplenietea trichomanis in southeastern Italy. Acta Botanica Croatica. 67. 147-174.

Terzi, M., Jasprica, N., Caković, D., & Pietro, R.D. (2018): Revision of the central Mediterranean xerothermic cliff vegetation. Applied Vegetation Science, 21, 514–532.

Tomaselli, M., Foggi, B., Carbognani, M., Gennai, M. & Petraglia, A. (2018): The rock-face vegetation in the northern Apennines and neighbouring mountain areas, from the coast line to the highest summits. Phytocoenologia. 52. 10.1127/phyto/2018/0117.

UFZ 2019. BiolFlor. Datenbank biologisch-ökologischer Merkmale der Flora von Deutschland. UFZ-Umweltforschungszentrum Leipzig-Halle. Internet: <u>https://www.ufz.de/biolflor/index.jsp</u> Access: 2019/06/06.

Van Swaay, C., Cuttelod, A., Collins, S., Maes, D., López Munguira, M., Šašić, M., Settele, J., Verovnik, R., Verstrael, T., Warren, M., Wiemers, M. & Wynhof, I. 2010. European Red List of Butterfies. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

V.J. Kalkman, J.-P. Boudot, R. Bernard, K.-J. Conze, G. De Knijf, E. Dyatlova, S. Ferreira, M. Jović, J. Ott, E. Riservato & G. Sahlén. 2010. European Red List of Dragonflies. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

Van Swaay, C., Cuttelod, A., Collins, S., Maes, D., López Munguira, M., Šašić, M., Settele, J., Verovnik, R., Verstrael, T., Warren, M., Wiemers, M. & Wynhof, I. 2010. European Red List of Butterfies. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

Wagensommer, R. P., Perrino, E. & Russo, G. (2015): Asperula garganica Huter ex Ehrend. & Krendl. In: Schede per una Lista Rossa della Flora vascolare e crittogamica Italiana. Informatore Botanico Italiano. 47. 252-254.

Wagensommer, R. P (2016): Phytosociological investigation on the thermo-chasmophilous vegetation of the Eastern Mediterranean territories. Thesis, University of Catania.

Willner, W. (2001): Neue Erkenntnisse zur Synsystematik der Buchenwälder. Linzer Biol. Beitr. 33/1: 527-560.

Willner, W.; Jimenez-Alfaro, B.; Agrillo, E.; Biurrun, I.; Campos, J.A.; Carni, A.; Casella, L.; Csiky, J.; Custerevska, R.; Didukh, Y.P.; Ewald, J.; Jandt, U.; Jansen; F.; Kacki, Z.; Kavgaci, A.; Lenoir, J.; Marinsek, A.; Onyshchenko, V.; Rodwell, J.S.; Schaminee, J.H.J.; Sibik; J., Skvorz, Z.; Svenning; J.-C.; Tsirpidis, J.; Turtureanu, P.D.; Tzonev, R.; Vassilev, K.; Venanzoni, R.; Wohlgemuth, T. & Chytry, M. (2017): Classification of European beech forests: a Gordian Knot? Applied Vegetation Science 20: 494-512.

Willner, W.; Kuzemko, A.; Dengler, J.; Chytry, M.; Bayuer, N.; Becker, T.; Bita-Nicolae, C.; Botta-Dukat, Z.; Carni,Aa.; Sciky, J.; Igic, R.; Kacki, Z.; Korotchenko, I.; Kropf, M.; Drstivojevic-Cuk, M.; Krstonosic, D.; Redei, T.; Ruprecht, E.; Schratt-Ehrendorfer, L.; Semenischenkov, Y.; Zvjezdana, S.; Vashenyak, Y.; Vynokurov, D. & Janisova, M. (2017): A higher-level classification of the Pannonian and western Pontic steppe grasslands (Central and Eastern Europe). Applied Vegetation Science 20: 143-158.

### 5.3 Pollination mechanisms and insect food sources

Albrecht, M., Schmid, B., Hautier, Y. & Muller, C.B. (2012): Diverse pollinator communities enhance plant reproductive success. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B-Biological Sciences, 279, 4845–4852.

Amiet, F. & Krebs, A. (2012): Bienen Mitteleuropas. Gattungen, Lebensweise, Beobachtung. Haupt Verlag, Bern, 423 S.

Armbruster W.S., Perez-Barrales R., Arroyo J., Edwards M.E. & Vargas P. (2006): Three dimensional reciprocity of floral morphs in wild flax (Linum suffruticosum): a new twist on heterostyly. New Phytologist 171, 581-590.

Aronne, G. & Wilcock, C.C. (1994): Reproductive Characteristics and Breeding System of Shrubs of the Mediterranean Region. Functional Ecology, 8 (1), 69-76.

Arroyo, J. (1990): Geographic Variation of Flowering Phenology in twenty-six Common Shrubs in SW Spain. Flora (1990) 184: 43-49.

Bacchetta, G. & Brullo, S. (2010): *Astragalus tegulensis* Bacch. & Brullo (Fabaceae), a new species from Sardia. Candollea, Journal international de botanique systématique, 65(1), 1-14.

Boesi R., Polidori C., Andrietti F. (2009): Searching for the right target: oviposition and feeding behavior in Bombylius bee flies (Diptera: Bombyliidae). Zoological Studies 48, 762 141-150.

Boller, J. & Schindler, M. (2013): Blütenbesucher (Apiformes, Lepidoptera, Syrphidae) und Heuschreckenzönosen (Saltatoria) unterschiedlich gemanagter Bergwiesen im Nationalpark Eifel. Decheniana 166: 79-91.

Bosch, J., Retana, J. & Cerdá, X. (1997): Flowering phenology, floral traits and pollinator composition in a herbaceous Mediterranean plant community. Oecologia, 109, 583-591.

Brittain, C., Kremen, C. & Klein, A.M. (2013): Biodiversity buffers pollination from changes in environmental conditions. Global Change Biology, 19, 540–547.

Burkart, A., Schlindwein, C. & Lunau, K. (2013): Assessment of pollen reward and pollen availability in Solanum stramoniifolium and Solanum paniculatum for buzz-pollinating carpenter bees. Plant Biology 16, 503-507.

Carvell, C. (2002): Habitat use and conservation of bumblebees (Bombus spp.) under different grassland management regimes. Biological conservation 103: 33–49.

Crailsheim, K., Moosbeckhofer, R. & Brodschneider, R. (2018): Zukunft Biene -Grundlagenforschungsprojekt zur Förderung des Bienenschutzes und der Bienengesundheit. Endbericht. Forschungsprojekt Nr. 100972. <u>https://www.bienenzentrum.at/endbericht-zukunftbiene+2400+1002460</u>. Access: 2019/11/26.

Denisow, B., Strzałkowska-Abramek, M. & Jeżak, A. (2016): Floral reward in Ranunculaceae species. Modern Phytomorphology 9 (Suppl.), 87–88.

Diener, A. (2016): Untersuchung zum Bestäuberangebot und Blühaspekt von Offenlandflächen an zwei Standorten am Rande der Stadt Wien. Masterarbeit, Universität für Bodenkultur. Internet: <u>http://epub.boku.ac.at/obvbokhs/content/titleinfo/1935466</u>. Access: 2019/11/19

Di Musciano, M., Carranza, M.L, Frate, L., Di Cecco, V., Di Martino, L., Frattaroli, A.R. & Stanisci, A. (2018): Distribution of Plant Species and Dispersal Traits along Environmental Gradients in Central Mediterranean Summits. Diversity 2018, 10, 58; doi:10.3390/d10030058.

Fontaine, C., Dajoz, I., Meriguet, J. & Loreau, M. (2006): Functional Diversity of Plant–Pollinator Interaction Webs Enhances the Persistence of Plant Communities. PLoS Biology, 4(1), 0129-0135.

Ebeling, A., Klein, A.-M., Schumacher, J., Weisser, W. W. and Tscharntke, T. (2008): How does plant richness affect pollinator richness and temporal stability of flower visits, Oikos, (117) 1808–1815.

Fenster, C. B., Armbruster, W. S., Wilson, P., Dudash, M. R. and Thomson, J. D. (2004): Pollination syndromes and floral specialization, Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics, (35) 375–403.

Flügel, H.-J. (2007): Bienen (Hymenoptera, Aculeata: Apidae) vom Halberg bei Neumorschen (Nordhessen, Fuldatal). Philippia 13: 29-36.

Fritsch, K. (1928): Beobachtungen über blütenbesuchende Insekten in Steiermark 1908. internet: <u>https://www.zobodat.at/pdf/SBAWW\_137\_0799-0815.pdf</u> Access: 2019/11/19.

Farré-Armengol, G., Filella, I, Llusi´s, J. & Penuelas, J. (2015): Pollination mode determines floral scent. Biochemical Systematics and Ecology, 61, 44-53.

Haeseler, V. (2005): Stechimmen der Steller Heide bei Bremen im Zeitraum 1985 bis 2004 (Hymenoptera: Aculeata). Abh. Naturwiss. Verein Bremen 45 (3): 621-656.

Hasegawa, Y., Suyama, Y. & Seiwa, K. (2015): Variation in Pollen-Donor Composition among Pollinators in an Entomophilous Tree Species, Castanea crenata, Revealed by Single-Pollen Genotyping. PLOSone, 10(3): e0120393.

Hatfield, R. and LeBuhn, G. (2007): Patch and landscape factors shape community assemblage of bumble bees, Bombus spp. (Hymenoptera: Apidae), in montane meadows. Biological Conservation 139: 150–158.

Heide, A. & Witt, R. (1990): Zur Stechimmenbesiedlung von Sandheiden und verwandten Biotopen am Beispiel des Pestruper Gräberfeldes in Nordwest-Niedersachsen (Hymenoptera Aculeata). Drosera 1990: 55-76.

Herrera, J. (1988): Pollination relationship in southern Spanish Mediterranean shrublands. Journal of Ecology (1988), 76, 274–287.

Herrera, J. (2009): Visibility vs. biomass in flowers: exploring corolla allocation in Mediterranean

entomophilous plants. Annals of Botany 103, 1119–1127.

Hoehn, P., Tscharntke, T., Tylianakis, J.M. & Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2008): Functional group diversity of bee pollinators increases crop yield. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B- iological Sciences, 275, 2283–2291.

Holzschuh, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Kleijn, D. & Tscharntke, T. (2007): Diversity of flowering-visiting bees in cereal fields: effects of farming system, landscape composition and regional context. Journal of Applied Ecology, 44, 41-49.

Hunneman, H., Hoffmann, F. & Kwak, M.M. (2004): The importance of syrphid flies as pollinators of Succisa pratensis (Dipsacaceae). Proc. Neth. Entomol. Soc. 15, 53-58.

Ivanov, S. & Fateryga, A. V. (2011): Pollination ecology of lizard orchid (*Himantoglossum caprinum*) in Crimea, Conference Paper. DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.1.4593.1681

Johnson S.D., Dafni A. (1998): Response of bee-flies to the shape and pattern of model

828 flowers: implications for floral evolution in a Mediterranean herb. Functional Ecology

829 12, 289-297.

Kearns C.A. & Inouye D.W. (1994): Fly pollination of *Linum lewisii* (Linaceae). American

833 Journal of Botany 81, 1091-1095.

Kearns, C. A., Inouye, D.W. & Waser, N.M. (1998): Endangered mutualisms: the conservation of plant–pollinator interactions. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 29:83–112

Kleijn, D. and Raemakers, I., 2008, 'A retrospective analysis of pollen host plant use by stable and declining bumblebee species', Ecology, (89) 1811–1823.

Knight, M. E., Osborne, J. L., Sanderson, R. A., Hale, R. J., Martin, A. P. and Goulson, D., 2009, 'Bumblebee nest density and the scale of available forage in arable landscapes', Insect Conservation and Diversity, (2) 116–124.

Kozuharova, E. (2000): Entomophilous plant species inhabiting the southern limestone slopes of Mt. Vitosa (SW Bulgaria) and their pollinators. Flora Mediterranea 10, 227-234.

Kozuharova, E. (2018): Functional flower morphology and entomophilous pollination syndromes in Cape Kaliakra Nature Reserve (North Black Sea coast, Bulgaria). Acta zool. bulg., Suppl. 11, 2018: 87-90.

Kraft, R. (2012): Ökosystemdienstleistungen der Biodiversität mit Nutzen für die Landwirtschaft. Blütenbestäubung durch Insekten. Diplomarbeit. Institut für Physikalische Geographie der Universität Frankfurt am Main. Grin Verlag: <u>https://www.grin.com/document/354548</u> Access: 2019/11/26.

Kratochwil, A. (1983): Zur Phänologie von Pflanzen und blütenbesuchenden Insekten (Hymenoptera, Lepidoptera, Diptera, Coleoptera) eines versaumten Halbtrockenrasens im Kaiserstuhl - Ein Beitrag zur Erhaltung brachliegender Wiesen als Lizenz-Biotope gefährdeter Tierarten. Beih. Veröff. Naturschutz Landschaftspflege Bad.-Württ. 34:57-108.

Kratochwil, A. (1984): Pflanzengesellschaften und Blütenbesucher-Gemeinschaften: Biozönologische Untersuchungen in einem nicht mehr bewirtschafteten Halbtrockenrasen (Mesobrometum). Phytocoenologia, 11: 455-669.

Kreisch, W. (1993): Zur Blühphänologie und Blütenbiologie der frühblühenden entomophilen

Arten einer subnivalen Pflanzengemeinschaft am Brennkogel (Glocknergruppe). Wissenschaftliche Mitteilungen aus dem Nationalpark Hohe Tauern, Bd. 1 (1993): 72-83.

Kremen, C., Neal, M., Williams, N. M., Aizen, M. A., Gemmill-Herren, B., LeBuhn, G., Minckley, R., Packer, L., Potts, S. G., Roulston, T., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Vazquez, D. P., Winfree, R., Adams, L., Crone,

E. E., Greenleaf, S. S., Keitt, T. H., Klein, A.-M., Regetz, J. and Ricketts, T. H. (2007): Pollination and other ecosystem services produced by mobile organisms: a conceptual framework for the effects of land-use change, Ecological Letters, (10) 299–314.

Kreutz, C. A. J. (1994): Orobanche – Die Sommerwurzarten Europas – Ein Bestimmungsbuch – 1 Mittelund Nordeuropa. Natuurhistorisch Genootschap in Limburg.

Lack, A.J. & Diaz, A. (1991): The pollination of Arum maculatum L. - a historical review

and new observations. Watsonia, 18, 333-342.

Le Feon, V., Schermann-Legionnet, A., Delettre, Y., Aviron, S., Billeter, R., Bugter, R., Hendrickx, F., and Burel, F., 2010, 'Intensification of agriculture, landscape composition and wild bee communities: A large scale study in four European countries', Agriculture Ecosystems and Environment, (137) 143–150.

Manning, P., Gossner, M.M., Bossdorf, O., Allan, E., Zhang, Y.-Y., Prati, D. et al. (2015): Grassland management intensification weakens the associations among the diversities of multiple plant and animal taxa. Ecology, 96, 1492–1501.

Mandl, S. & Sukopp (2011): Bestäuberhandbuch für Gärtner, Landwirte und Imker. <u>https://cdn.netletter.at/imkerbund/media/download/2017.04.17/1492455018818465.pdf?d=Bestaubungshandbuch\_Mandl\_Sukopp.pdf&dc=1492455020</u>. Access: 2019/11/26.

Manso, M.L. & Andres, I.M. (2013): Pollinic characters in Mediterranean salt marsh

plants in relation to their pollination mechanism. Acta Botanica Gallica,

140:3, 263-274, DOI: 10.1080/12538078.1993.10515596.

Montero-Castano, A.M., Vila, M. & Ortiz-Sanchez, F.J. (2014): Pollination ecology of a plant in its native and introduced areas. Acta Oecologica 56 (2014) 1e9

Muth, F., Francis, J.S. & Leonard, A.S. (2016): Bees use the taste of pollen to determine which flowers to visit. Biol. Lett. 12: 20160356. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2016.0356</u>

Neumayer, J. (2010): Die Hummeln (Hymenoptera: Apidae, Bombus) des Nationalpark Thayatal.Projektbericht im Auftrag des Nationalparks Thaytal.Internet:https://www.data.gv.at/katalog/dataset/F5433685-BEE8-5274-0B75-8E616684D329Access:2019/11/19.2019/11/19.

Nielsen, A., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Westphal, C., Messinger, O., Potts, S.G., Roberts, S.P., Settele, J.,

Szentgyörgyi, H., Vaissiere, B.E., Vaitis, M., Woyciechowski, M., Bazos, J., Biesmeijer, J.C., Bommarco, R., Kunin, W.E., Tscheulin, T., Lamborn, E. & Petanidou, T. (2011): Assessing bee species richness in two Mediterranean communities: importance of habitat type and sampling techniques. Ecol Res DOI 10.1007/s11284-011-0852-1.

Orford, K.A., Murray, P.J., Vaughan, I.P. & Memmott, J. (2016): Modest enhancements to conventional grassland diversity improve the provision of pollination services. Journal of Applied Ecology 2016, 53, 906–915.

Petanidou, T. & Vokou, D. (1990): Pollination and pollen energetics in Mediterranean ecosystems. American Journal of Botany 77(8), 986-992.

Petanidou, T. (1991): Pollination Ecology in a Phryganic Ecosystem. Thesis

Petanidou, T. & Ellis, W.N. (1993): Pollinating Fauna of a Phryganic Ecosystem: Composition and Diversity. Biodiversity Letters, 1(1), 9-22.

Petanidou, T., Ellis, W.N., Margaris, N.S. & Vokou, D. (1995): Constraints on Flowering Phenology in a Phryganic (East Mediterranean Shrub) Community. American Journal of Botany, Vol. 82 (5): 607-620.

Petanidou, T. & Lamborn, E. (2005): A land for flowers and bees: studying pollination ecology in Mediterranean communities. Plant Biosystems - An International Journal

Dealing with all Aspects of Plant Biology, 139:3, 279-294, DOI: 10.1080/11263500500333941

Petanidou, T., Ståhls, G., Vujić, A., Olesen, J.M., Rojo, S., Thrasyvoulou, A., Sgardelis, S., Kallimanis, A.S., Kokkini, S. & Tscheulin, T. (2015): Investigating plant—pollinator relationships in the Aegean: the approaches of the project POLAEGIS (The pollinators of the Aegean archipelago: diversity and threats). Journal of Apicultural Research, 52(2), 106-117, DOI: 10.3896/IBRA.1.52.2.20

Potts, S. G., Vulliamy, B., Dafni, A., Ne'Eman, G. and Willmer, PG., (2003): Linking bees and flowers: how do floral communities structure pollinator communities? Ecology, (84) 2628–2642.

Potts, S.G., Petanidou, T., Roberts, S., O'Toole, C., Hulbert, A. & Willmer, P. (2006): Plant-pollinator biodiversity and pollination services in a complex Mediterranean landscape. Biological Conservation, 129, 519–529.

Pritsch, G. (2018): Bienenweide. Franck-Kosmos Verlags-GmbH, Stuttgart, 303 S.

Ramos–Jiliberto, R., Moisset de Espanés, P., Franco–Cisterna, M., Petanidou, T. & Vázquez, D. (2018): Phenology determines the robustness of plant–pollinator networks. Sci Rep 8, 14873. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-33265-6

Riemann, H. & Meller, A. (1990): Hymenopteren (Hym., Aculeata, exc. Formicidae) aus Bodenfallen im nordwestdeutschen Calluna-Heiden. Abh. naturw. Ver. Bremen 41: 111-130.

Riemann, H. (1987): Die Bienen, Wespen und Ameisen der Naturschutzgebiete "Dünengebiet bei Neumühlen" und "Voßberge" unter Berücksichtigung weiterer Binnendünenareale. Beih. Naturschutz Landschaftspflege Niedersachsen, Heft 17, Hannover.

Risch, S. (1995): Die Maskenbiene Hylaeus euryscapus (Förster) (Hymenoptera: Apidae) neu für Deutschland. Fauna Flora Rheinland-Pfalz 7: 1027-1034.

Sajwanii, A., Farooq, S.A., Bryant, V.M. (2014): Studies of bee foraging plants and analysis of pollen pellets from hives in Oman. Palynology, 38 (2), 207–223.

Saure, C. (2011): Monitoring in der Döberitzer Heide am Beispiel der Artengruppe Stechimmen. S 91-41. In: Landesamt für Umwelt, Gesundheit und Verbaucherschutz (LUGV) (Hrsg.). Bericht zum Workshop "Monitoring in der Döberitzer Heide". Fachbeiträge des LUGV, Heft 123. Scheunert, A. (2016): Evolutionary history and biogeography of the genus *Scrophularia* (Scrophulariaceae) and hemiparasitic Orobanchaceae (tribe Rhinantheae) with emphasis on reticulate evolution. Ph thesis at the Ludwig-Maximilians-University München.

Schmidt, K. & Westrich, P. (1987): Stechimmen des Mainzer Sandes und des Gonsenheimer Waldes. Mainzer naturw. Archiv, 25: 351-407.

Steffan-Dewenter, I. and Tscharntke, T. (2001): Succession of bee communities on fallows, Ecography, (24) 83–93.

Stelleman, P. (1984): Reflection of the transition from wind pollination to ambophily. Acta Bot. Neerl. 33(4), 497-508.

Steven, M. (1995): Blüten- und Nahrungsangebot des Botanischen Gartens in Münster und das saisonale Auftreten von Bienen (Apoidea). Diplomarbeit an der Westfälischen Wilhelms-Universität Münster. http://www.nabu-naturschutzstation-muensterland.de/cms/upload/pdf/Diplomarbeit\_Michael-Steven.pdf. Access: 2019/11/26.

Ssymank A., Hamm A. & Vischer-Leopold M. (2009): Caring for pollinators safeguarding

943 agro-biodiversity and wild plant diversity. Federal Agency for Nature Conservation

944 (BfN) & University Bonn

Vallius, E., Buchsbaum, U. & Nazarov, V. (2013): Pollination activity of Zygaena filipendulae (LINNAEUS, 1758) (Lepidoptera: Zygaenidae) in Anacamptis pyramidalis orchid on the North Bull Island (Ireland). Entomofauna - Zeitschrift für Entomologie. 34(27), 357-368.

Valtuena, F.J., Ortega-Olivencia, A., Rodriguez-Riano, T. & Lopez, J. (2008): Reproductive biology in Anagyris foetida L. (Leguminosae), an autumn–winter flowering and ornithophilous Mediterranean shrub. Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society, 157, 519–532.

Vokou, D., Petanidou, T. & Bellos, D. (1990): Pollination Ecology and reproductive potential of *Jankaea heldreichii* (Gesneriaceae); a Tertiary relict on Mt Olympus, Greece. Biological Conservation, 52, 125-133.

WallisDeVries, M. F., Poschlod, P. and Willems, J. H., 2002, 'Challenges for the conservation of calcareous grasslands in northwestern Europe: integrating the requirements of flora and fauna', Biological Conservation, (104) 265–273.

Westphal, C., Bommarco, R., Carré, G., Lamborn, E., Morison, N., Petanidou, T., Potts, S.G., Roberts, S.P.M., Szentgyörgyi, H., Tscheulin, T., Vaissière, B.E., Woyciechowski, M., Biesmeijer, J.C., Kunin, W.E., Settele, J., Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2008): Measuring bee biodiversity in different European habitats and biogeographical regions. Ecol Monogr 78:653–671.

Westrich, P. (2003): Aus dem Leben der Wildbienen. Beiträge zur Entomofaunistik 4 – Nachrichten Forum.

Westrich, P. (2013): Wildbienen – Die anderen Bienen. Verlag Dr. Friedrich Pfeil. München, 168 S.

Westrich, P. (2018): Die Wildbienen Deutschlands. Eugen Ulmer Verlag, Stuttgart, 821 S.

Wiesbauer, H. (2017): Wilde Bienen. Biologie – Lebensraumdynamik am Beispiel Österreich – Artenportraits. Eugen Ulmer Verlag, Stuttgart, 376 S.

Williams, I. H. (2002): Insect pollination and crop production: A European perspective. In: Kevan, P, and Fonseca VL, I., (ed.). Pollinating Bees – The conservation link between agriculture and nature, Ministry of Environment, Brasilia, 59–65.

Wilson, J.B., Peet, R.K., Dengler, J. & Pärtel, M. (2012): Plant species richness: the world records. Journal of Vegetation Science 23: 796-802.

Zurbuchen, A. & Müller, A. (2012): Wildbienenschutz – von der Wissenschaft zur Praxis. Zürich, Bristol-Stiftung. Haupt Verlag. Bern, Stuttgart, Wien, 162 S.

# Annex 1

# Importance of Annex I Habitat Types for Pollinators

# Supplement

Prepared by / compiled by: Helmut Kudrnovsky, Thomas Ellmauer, Martin Götzl, David Paternoster, Gabriele Sonderegger Organisation: Umweltbundesamt GmbH EEA project manager: (Markus Erhard) Task Manager: (Sophie Condé) Task n°: 1.7.5.1

## **Version history**

Version	Date	Author	Status and description	Distribution
0.1	12/11/2019	Götzl Kudrnovsky Ellmauer Paternoster	Pre-draft for ETC (Info for WS on conservation measures that benefit pollinators relevant for N2000 sites)	To S. Condé
1.0	20/12/2019	Kudrnovsky Ellmauer Götzl Paternoster Schwaiger Sonderegger	First draft for EEA	To S. Condé
2.0	15/04/2020	Kudrnovsky Ellmauer Götzl Paternoster Schwaiger Sonderegger	Final draft for EEA	To S. Condé
3.0	13/07/2020	Kudrnovsky Ellmauer Götzl Paternoster Schwaiger Sonderegger	Final version for EEA	

# Contents

1		Supplement
	1.1	Why is the richness of plant species pollinated by insects a good indicator to identify important habitats for pollinators?
	1.2	Habitat types providing essential preconditions to support pollinators 49
	1.2.1	Grassland habitats 49
	1.2.2	Bogs, mires & fens 50
	1.2.3	Sclerophyllous scrubs and forests
	1.2.4	Heathlands51
	1.2.5	Dunes
	1.3	Number of plant species per family classified regarding to their importance for pollinators
	1.4	Minimum and maximum number of typical species reported by member states for the period 2007 to 2012 and difference between min and max 57
	1.5	Habitats with absolute number of assigned species and proportions of classified as "important", "not important" and "not yet classified" for pollinators

# **1** Supplement

# **1.1** Why is the richness of plant species pollinated by insects a good indicator to identify important habitats for pollinators?

Although there are many different pollinating insect species in Europe, like honeybees, bumblebees, solitary bees, hoverflies, butterflies, wasps and some species of beetles (Williams, 2002), there is strong evidence in literature that richness and abundance of flowering plant species are positively correlated with richness of all pollinating insects.

Flowering plants provide essential resources as pollen and nectar for all kinds of pollinating insects. This had been shown for example for different species of **bees**, the most important group of pollinating insects in Europe (Hatfield et LeBuhn, 2007; Carvell, 2002; Steffan-Dewenter and Tscharntke, 2001). These findings are confirmed by other studies (e.g. by Ebeling et al., 2008 who conducted a study in Germany), revealing that the frequency of pollinator visits is linearly increasing with both the blossom cover and the number of flowering plant species and that the number of those flowering plant species was closely related to the total number of plant species, whereas the number of pollinator species followed a saturation curve. Bee species richness is also secondarily affected by the diversity of nectar sources, the ratio of pollen to nectar energy content, and floral morphology (Potts et al., 2003).

Almost all of these positive relationships were found across different pollinator guilds (honey bees, solitary bees, bumble bees, hover flies, butterflies, beetles and flies) with some exceptions: visitation rate of solitary bees and hoverflies was only influenced by increasing blossom cover. Therefore, **both plant species richness and strong flowering plant communities appear to be critical factors for pollinators.** Plant species richness will support a diverse community of pollinating insects, including insects specialized to use food sources only from certain plant species or families, while high abundance of a lower number of flowering plant species will benefit particularly generalists.

These results are in line with findings by Fenster et al. (2004) which revealed that **higher floral diversity creates a wider array of foraging niches for functional groups of visitors**. All these prerequisites are responsible for a diverse and abundant pollinator community, which is the basis of pollination stability (Klein et al., 2007). On the other hand, if pollinator functional groups visit different plant species, this enhances the overall visitation and pollination of plant communities (Hoehn et al., 2008; Albrecht et al., 2012; Brittain et al., 2013), which has stabilizing effects on these communities.

Availability of nesting sites is another important determinant of pollinator community composition. Bee nesting habits include tunneling in bare ground, using pre-existing cavities, excavating dead wood and constructing nests inside larger cavities. The quantity and quality of nesting resources greatly influence bee community composition (Potts et al., 2005). Knight et al. (2009) showed that bumblebee nest density was linked to the quantity of floral resources within 1000m of their sample site.

Therefore, availability and diversity of flowering plants are the main prerequisite to enable stable and diverse pollinator communities, as they are the necessary conditions for pollinators to search for appropriate nesting sites in adjacent areas.

# **1.2** Habitat types providing essential preconditions to support pollinators

In order to verify the ranking of the habitat types according to the number of important plant species for pollinators, literature was screened to find out if published literature provides additional evidence for the habitat ranking or the habitat group ranking proposed in this report. The results of this literature search are summarized in the following text.

### 1.2.1 Grassland habitats

For grassland, Orford et al. (2016) could show that **increasing plant richness was associated with significant enhancement in the functional diversity of pollinator communities** (i.e. ability to use different nectar sources and habitat conditions according to their different morphology, activity patterns, visitation rates, etc.), which was detected by higher visitation frequency and pollinator richness. Similar results were reported for a wide range of insect species, showing that **increasing the diversity of grassland plants is associated with increases in the diversity of insect taxa** (Manning et al., 2015).

**Calcareous grasslands** (like habitat type 6210) **are considered to belong to the most species-rich habitats in central Europe** (WallisDeVries et al., 2002). They offer a rich supply of floral resources from early spring to late fall and further provide diverse microhabitats for nesting and larval development.

Semi-natural grasslands (i.e. hay meadows, like habitat types 6510 and 6520) and pastures that are not intensely cultivated or fertilized, and mainly with spontaneously established flora, are also very species-rich ecosystems (Wilson et al., 2012). The authors could show that managed semi-natural temperate grasslands (semi-dry basiphilous grassland) from Eastern Central Europe (Romania and Czech Republic) have a very high richness in plant species, and thus are important habitats for pollinating insects. In addition to plant species richness, semi-natural grasslands are essential habitats for pollinators as they provide a high diversity of flower resources, both in time and space, as well as nesting sites (Holzschuh et al., 2007).

Another study (Carvell, 2002), conducted on an **unimproved chalk grassland** (calcareous grassland like habitat type 6210) in north-west Europe, proved that both the overall abundance and species richness of bumblebees were strongly influenced by the different grassland management regimes, and that high number of flowers and flowering plant species (high floristic diversity) supported high numbers of bumblebees.

High species richness was observed in **Loess steppic grassland** (like habitat type 6250) (Westrich, 2018). Kratochwil (1983, 1984) found 132 bee species in a complex of **abandoned semi-natural dry grassland** (habitat type 6210) and **lowland hay meadows** (habitat type 6510) (Nördlicher Kaiserstuhl, Germany). Similar numbers of bee species were detected in abandoned, mowed and grazed **semi-natural dry grassland** (110 bee species, Westrich 2018). Comparable figures (98 bee species) were published for **Semi-natural dry grassland** in Nordhessen (Germany, Flügel 2007).

Westphal et al. (2008) published data on bee species richness of different temperate grassland types: **Semi-dry pasture** (Sweden) with 73 bee species (1220 individuals), **wet meadows** (Poland) with 99 bee species (2253 individuals), **chalk grassland** (UK) with 70 bee species (2886 individuals) and **calcareous grassland** (Germany) with 122 bee species (8813 individuals) to be observed.

Westrich (2018) described the following grassland habitats to be especially rich in pollinating insects: **6510** (Lowland hay meadows) and **6520** (Mountain hay meadows). Similar results are published by Boller and Schindler (2013) for the Eifel in Germany.

Plant-pollinator relationships have been studied in **subalpine meadows** on the Northern slopes of Mount Vitosa in south-west Bulgaria, at an altitude of 1.800-2.200 meters, to reveal the distribution of the insects on the blossoms according to their functional morphology (Kozuharova, 2000). As a result, 114 different insect species were observed as visitors (bees, bumble bees, butterflies, flies and moths) on plant species allocated to several families proving the importance of this habitat for pollinating insects.

Another paper published by the same author investigated the complex of entomophilous plants in Cape Kaliakra Nature Reserve (08E1 Western-pontic petrophytic steppes Natura 2000 habitat, representing habitat type **62C0 "Ponto-Sarmatic steppes"**) (Kozuharova, 2018). Although a high percentage of the flora of this Nature reserve is wind pollinated, entomophilous plants outnumber wild pollinated plants. Nectar and pollen produced by entomophilous plants were mainly accessible to short tongued pollinators such as small bee species, wasps, anthophilous flies and beetles.

### 1.2.2 Bogs, mires & fens

**Halophilous salt marshes** in the region Dehesa de la Albufera (Valencia, Spain) were investigated to address the question whether a correlation exists between the pollination mechanism and palynological characters of selected plant species (Manso & Andres 1993). From 50 taxa considered, about 50% were entomophilous plant species, showing that salt marshes provide relevant food sources for pollinating insects.

### 1.2.3 Sclerophyllous scrubs and forests

Studies on pollination ecology in **Mediterranean communities** by Petanidou and Lamborn (2005) proved the importance of Mediterranean habitats for bees. According to the climatic conditions, Mediterranean regions are a biodiversity hotspot and have remarkable species richness in pollinating insects.

**3.000 to 4.000 bee species are estimated to live in the Mediterranean Basin**, as part of very diverse plant-pollinator communities together with approximately **25.000 species of flowering plants.** This is another evidence of the positive correlation between the number of flowering plant species and the diversity of pollinating insects (Potts et al. 2003), and proves the great importance of Mediterranean habitats for bees and other pollinators as hoverflies, butterflies, beetles and wasps. Different scientific publications proved that **scrub habitats** (phrygana, garrigue, tomillares) are very rich in bee species. For example, Petanidou (1993) observed more than 600 different insect species in a mature **phrygana** near Athens, including about 260 bee species. Also Herrera (1988) observed 180 flower-visiting insect species (thereof 55 bee species) in a Spanish **garrigue** near Donana.

In another paper on plant-pollination biodiversity and pollination services in a complex Mediterranean landscape dealing with different habitats on the Greek island, Lesvos Potts et al. (2006) concluded that **pine forests**, **oak woodland** and **managed olive groves** have the greatest value for plant-pollinator communities and provision of pollination service. The highest bee species richness in oak woodlands and managed olive groves fits to the high floral diversity recorded (flower species richness as well as flower abundance) in these habitats. There, **the abundance of common bee species is strongly associated with the overall abundance of flowers** and of energy availability in the form of nectar. **Overall bee and flower species richness were highly significantly correlated** (Potts et al. 2006).

Another study to assess bee species richness in the Mediterranean compared **semi-natural scrub habitats** (**phrygana**) and **managed olive groves** (Nielsen, 2011). The study sites were selected on the island of Lesvos, Greece. About 203 bee species were found at all phrygana study sites together (with about 3480 individuals) and about 221 bee species (more than 4200 individuals) at all of the olive grove study sites. The quite similar number of bee species in managed olive groves compared to the phrygana study sites is due to a high diversity of wild flower resources and an open floor which is the results of light plowing applied only every 2-3 years.

#### 1.2.4 Heathlands

**Lowland heathland** (below 300m) are characterized by sandy mineral soils of low nutrient status (buglife.org.uk: <u>https://www.buglife.org.uk/resources/habitat-management/lowland-heathland/</u>, access 25.03.2020). Many heathlands are a mosaic of habitats providing also important invertebrate habitats. Different bee and fly species, wasps, hoverflies and beetles are confined to this habitat. This is due to the diverse vegetational structure, bar ground as areas for nesting and annual as well as ruderal plants providing pollen and nectar for adult insects.

There is however little knowledge on the specific bee fauna of **Mountain heaths** (Westrich 2018). As bee species are thermophilic insects, they avoid climate conditions of high altitudes and high precipitation.

### 1.2.5 Dunes

**Fixed dunes** and **sand steppes** near the coast and in the land are outstanding habitats for wild bees (Westrich 2018). Although variety of nectar and pollen producing plant species is not very high, there is very high abundance of individual plant species flowering (e.g. *Calluna vulgaris*). This high abundance of some plants allows high densities of pollinators specialized on these plant species.

For example, Risch (1995) found 66 bee species in this kind of habitat (near Storkow in Germany. Similar results were published by Haeseler in 2005 ("Steller Heide" near Bremen in Germany: 113 bee species). Further results of other authors (Riemann & Melber, 1990; Heide & Witt, 1990) support these findings.

# **1.3** Number of plant species per family classified regarding to their importance for pollinators

	Number of				
Family	Plant species classified as important for pollinators	Plant species classified as not important for pollinators	Plant species not yet classified		
Acanthaceae	2				
Acoraceae			1		
Aizoaceae			4		
Alismataceae	7		3		
Amaranthaceae			5		
Amaryllidaceae	45		17		
Anacardiaceae	1	2	5		
Apiaceae	90		138		
Apocynaceae	5		13		
Aquifoliaceae	1		4		
Araceae	3		12		
Araliaceae	5				
Arecaceae		1	2		
Aristolochiaceae	2		7		
Asparagaceae	29		39		
Aspleniaceae		34			
Asteraceae	726				
Athyriaceae		8			
Balsaminaceae	2				
Berberidaceae	6		1		
Betulaceae	16				
Blechnaceae		2			
Boraginaceae	56		34		
Brassicaceae	182		121		
Butomaceae	1				
Buxaceae	1		1		
Cactaceae	1				
Campanulaceae	104		2		
Cannabaceae	1				
Capparaceae	2				
Caprifoliaceae	8		4		
Caryophyllaceae	124	1	252		
Celastraceae	3		3		

	Number of				
Family	Plant species classified as important for pollinators	Plant species classified as not important for pollinators	Plant species not yet classified		
Ceratophyllaceae		2			
Chenopodiaceae	21	5	86		
Cistaceae	52		7		
Clethraceae			1		
Clusiaceae	28		1		
Cneoraceae			1		
Colchicaceae	3		7		
Convolvulaceae	23		2		
Coriariaceae		1			
Cornaceae	3				
Corylaceae	3		3		
Crassulaceae	20		64		
Cucurbitaceae	1		2		
Culcitaceae		1			
Cupressaceae		2	19		
Cymodoceaceae		1			
Cynomoriaceae			1		
Cyperaceae	135	111	1		
Cystopteridaceae		6			
Cytinaceae			2		
Datiscaceae			1		
Davalliaceae		1			
Dennstaedtiaceae		1			
Diapensiaceae			1		
Dioscoreaceae	1		4		
Dipsacaceae	10		28		
Droseraceae	4		1		
Drosophyllaceae	1				
Dryopteridaceae		22			
Elaeagnaceae	2		1		
Elatinaceae		6	1		
Ephedraceae	1	4	1		
Equisetaceae		14			
Ericaceae	74	2			
Eriocaulaceae			1		
Euphorbiaceae	18		49		

	Number of				
Family	Plant species classified as important for pollinators	Plant species classified as not important for pollinators	Plant species not yet classified		
Fabaceae	447	1			
Fagaceae	8	1	33		
Frankeniaceae	8				
Gentianaceae	33		24		
Geraniaceae	26		14		
Gesneriaceae			3		
Grossulariaceae	6				
Haloragaceae	2		2		
Hamamelidaceae			1		
Hydrocharitaceae	2	7	6		
Hymenophyllaceae		3			
Iridaceae	41		2		
Isoetaceae			14		
Juglandaceae			1		
Juncaceae	42	2	29		
Juncaginaceae	1	1	2		
Lamiaceae	278				
Lauraceae	3		3		
Lemnaceae		2	4		
Lentibulariaceae	7		15		
Liliaceae	17		4		
Linaceae	14		8		
Linderniaceae			3		
Linnaeaceae	1				
Loranthaceae	2		2		
Lycopodiaceae		18			
Lythraceae	5		9		
Malvaceae	8		4		
Marsileaceae		5			
Melanthiaceae	2		2		
Meliaceae			1		
Menyanthaceae	1		1		
Molluginaceae			2		
Montiaceae	1		2		
Moraceae	1				
Morinaceae			1		

	Number of				
Family	Plant species classified as important for pollinators	Plant species classified as not important for pollinators	Plant species not yet classified		
Myricaceae	•	•	2		
Myrsinaceae			5		
Myrtaceae	1				
Nartheciaceae	1				
Nyctaginaceae			1		
Nymphaeaceae	4		1		
Oleaceae	6	3	9		
Onagraceae	23	1	6		
Onocleaceae		1			
Ophioglossaceae		10			
Orchidaceae	72		63		
Orobanchaceae	57		41		
Osmundaceae		1			
Oxalidaceae	2		1		
Paeoniaceae	3		4		
Papaveraceae	21		3		
Parnassiaceae	1		1		
Phyllanthaceae			2		
Pinaceae	2	1	26		
Pittosporaceae			2		
Plantaginaceae	68		111		
Platanaceae			1		
Plumbaginaceae	5		160		
Poaceae		621			
Polemoniaceae	1		1		
Polygalaceae	10		4		
Polygonaceae	34		39		
Polypodiaceae		5			
Portulacaceae	1				
Potamogetonaceae			34		
Primulaceae	62		27		
Pteridaceae		15			
Ranunculaceae	170		26		
Resedaceae	5		3		
Rhamnaceae	11		6		
Rosaceae	182		41		

	Number of				
Family	Plant species classified as important for pollinators	Plant species classified as not important for pollinators	Plant species not yet classified		
Rubiaceae	13	1	91		
Ruppiaceae			4		
Rutaceae	2		3		
Salicaceae	63				
Salviniaceae		2			
Santalaceae	9		3		
Sapindaceae	16				
Saxifragaceae	20	2	63		
Scheuchzeriaceae	1				
Scrophulariaceae	21		15		
Selaginellaceae		3			
Simaroubaceae	1				
Smilacaceae			5		
Solanaceae	5		8		
Staphyleaceae	1				
Styracaceae			1		
Tamaricaceae	2		11		
Тахасеае	1				
Theaceae			1		
Thelypteridaceae		7			
Thymelaeaceae	9		15		
Tofieldiaceae	2				
Typhaceae	5		12		
Ulmaceae	3		7		
Urticaceae	2	1	2		
Valerianaceae	12		20		
Verbenaceae			1		
Viburnaceae	7		2		
Violaceae	57		4		
Vitaceae	2		1		
Woodsiaceae		4			
Xanthorrhoeaceae	8		1		
Zosteraceae		2			
Zygophyllaceae			7		

## 1.4 Minimum and maximum number of typical species reported by member states for the period 2007 to 2012 and difference between min and max

Habitat code	min	max	diff
6210	3	344	341
5130	1	341	340
91E0	1	220	219
9180	1	207	206
6430	3	208	205
6510	2	197	195
6520	4	177	173
9150	5	167	162
6410	3	157	154
9130	6	157	151
91F0	2	151	149
6230	3	147	144
6240	13	157	144
9170	6	143	137
6170	9	144	135
9160	3	137	134
7230	2	135	133
9110	6	135	129
7140	1	125	124
40A0	3	120	117
1160	2	118	116
2190	2	116	114
6190	5	116	111
8130	12	121	109
8240	3	111	108
6440	5	104	99
9110	5	103	98
1230	3	100	97
3130	2	99	97
2330	1	97	96
5330	5	100	95
6110	5	99	94
9190	1	95	94
91G0	8	102	94
6120	5	94	89
4030	3	91	88
8230	1	88	87

Habitat codo	min	may	diff
1510	1	87	86
1130	1	85	84
8210	4	86	82
8220	1	83	82
6220	5	83	78
91D0	3	80	77
3150	1	74	73
7210	1	74	73
3270	1	73	72
2310	1	70	69
5110	1	70	69
1330	2	68	66
2130	1	66	65
6150	4	69	65
7120	1	63	62
9260	1	62	61
9340	1	62	61
5210	10	69	59
91U0	78	137	59
4060	5	63	58
4070	5	63	58
91H0	3	61	58
7220	1	58	57
8160	4	58	54
9410	3	56	53
9140	5	57	52
9560	7	59	52
1410	2	53	51
3160	2	53	51
91K0	7	58	51
9580	1	52	51
4090	1	51	50
91M0	5	55	50
9530	3	52	49
2260	8	55	47
62C0	5	52	47
6530	2	49	47

Habitat code	min	max	diff
91L0	7	54	47
1240	2	47	45
1340	13	58	45
1420	2	47	45
3260	1	46	45
92A0	6	51	45
2180	1	45	44
6130	1	44	43
6420	3	45	42
1430	1	42	41
91T0	1	42	41
9430	4	45	41
6270	2	41	39
9540	13	52	39
1150	1	39	38
4010	1	39	38
7310	10	48	38
8120	9	47	38
6250	5	41	36
3280	4	39	35
8150	4	38	34
91Q0	3	37	34
1530	7	40	33
2220	5	38	33
7150	1	34	33
9420	6	39	33
6260	6	38	32
9230	8	40	32
3220	1	32	31
1220	5	35	30
3290	3	33	30
5310	1	31	30
5430	10	40	30
9360	6	35	29
1250	4	32	28
1310	1	29	28
3230	1	29	28
4080	3	31	28
8110	3	31	28
8320	1	29	28
2250	2	29	27
3250	4	31	27
62D0	7	34	27

Habitat code	min	max	diff
7110	2	29	27
92B0	9	36	27
2160	1	27	26
91AA	19	45	26
1630	4	29	25
3170	12	37	25
7240	5	30	25
9120	4	29	25
91CA	21	46	25
91N0	3	28	25
9290	2	27	25
2110	2	26	24
2270	2	26	24
3110	2	26	24
3240	3	27	24
9020	4	28	24
95A0	7	31	24
1610	5	28	23
2120	1	24	23
2230	4	27	23
5420	12	35	23
6280	11	34	23
9010	6	29	23
9070	3	26	23
3140	1	23	22
92C0	16	38	22
9370	2	24	22
2210	8	29	21
2340	2	23	21
9080	3	24	21
91BA	11	32	21
5120	1	21	20
5230	3	23	20
2170	1	20	19
5320	1	20	19
9240	2	21	19
9350	1	20	19
2140	1	19	18
4020	6	24	18
7130	1	19	18
9040	1	19	18
92D0	3	21	18
1210	2	19	17

Habitat code	min	max	diff
3120	4	21	17
4050	4	21	17
91B0	1	18	17
2150	1	17	16
40C0	4	20	16
6450	3	19	16
9050	15	31	16
9330	1	17	16
9380	1	17	16
2240	10	25	15
62A0	33	48	15
9060	3	18	15
8340	3	17	14
9320	7	21	14
4040	8	21	13
5410	5	18	13
7160	3	16	13
1320	1	13	12
1620	1	13	12
1650	2	14	12
6310	4	16	12
8310	1	13	12
8140	23	34	11
2320	2	11	9
3180	10	18	8
1110	1	8	7
1520	11	18	7
1140	1	7	6
6160	23	29	6
9250	18	24	6
3190	1	6	5
9570	15	18	3
1640	6	8	2
5220	16	18	2
6140	13	15	2
8330	1	3	2
91A0	11	12	1
9270	28	29	1
1120	1	1	0
21A0	24	24	0
3210	7	7	0
40B0	1	1	0
5140	6	6	0

Habitat code	min	max	diff
6180	34	34	0
62B0	9	9	0
6460	8	8	0
9030	1	1	0
91J0	17	17	0
91P0	37	37	0
91R0	8	8	0
91S0	15	15	0
91V0	21	21	0
91W0	19	19	0
91X0	13	13	0
91Y0	25	25	0
91Z0	57	57	0
9210	30	30	0
9220	25	25	0
9280	37	37	0
9310	25	25	0
9390	10	10	0
93A0	13	13	0
9510	8	8	0
9520	17	17	0
9550	4	4	0
9590	11	11	0

## 1.5 Habitats with absolute number of assigned species and proportions of classified as "important", "not important" and "not yet classified" for pollinators

				% plant species classified as		
habitat group	habitat code	description	number of plants	important for pollinators	not important for pollinators	not yet classified
	1110	Sandbanks which are slightly covered by sea water all the time	26	3,8%	38,5%	57,7%
	1120	Posidonia beds (Posidonion oceanicae)	1	0,0%	100,0%	0,0%
	1130	Estuaries	135	44,4%	22,2%	33,3%
	1140	Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide	15	6,7%	46,7%	46,7%
	1150	Coastal lagoons	101	37,6%	18,8%	43,6%
	1160	Large shallow inlets and bays	165	33,3%	16,4%	50,3%
	1170	Reefs	0			
	1180	Submarine structures made by leaking gases	0			
	1210	Annual vegetation of drift lines	83	49,4%	7,2%	43,4%
10	1220	Perennial vegetation of stony banks	77	63,6%	22,1%	14,3%
abitats	1230	Vegetated sea cliffs of the Atlantic and Baltic Coasts	159	73,6%	11,3%	15,1%
Coastal h	1240	Vegetated sea cliffs of the Mediterranean coasts with endemic Limonium spp.	154	36,4%	5,8%	57,8%
J	1250	Vegetated sea cliffs with endemic flora of the Macaronesian coasts	58	55,2%	6,9%	37,9%
	1310	Salicornia and other annuals colonizing mud and sand	115	34,8%	22,6%	42,6%
	1320	Spartina swards (Spartinion maritimae)	19	26,3%	52,6%	21,1%
	1330	Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco- Puccinellietalia maritimae)	98	57,1%	23,5%	19,4%
	1340	Inland salt meadows	101	55,4%	25,7%	18,8%
	1410	Mediterranean salt meadows (Juncetalia maritimi)	134	41,0%	31,3%	27,6%
	1420	Mediterranean and thermo- Atlantic halophilous scrubs (Sarcocornetea fruticosi)	84	31,0%	15,5%	53,6%
	1430	Halo-nitrophilous scrubs (Pegano-Salsoletea)	95	45,3%	8,4%	46,3%

				% plant species classified as		
habitat group	habitat code	description	number of plants	important for pollinators	not important for pollinators	not yet classified
	1510	Mediterranean salt steppes (Limonietalia)	135	24,4%	15,6%	60,0%
	1520	Iberian gypsum vegetation (Gypsophiletalia)	31	71,0%	3,2%	25 <i>,</i> 8%
	1530	Pannonic salt steppes and salt marshes	109	47,7%	25,7%	26,6%
	1610	Baltic esker islands with sandy, rocky and shingle beach vegetation and sublittoral vegetation	42	54,8%	14,3%	31,0%
	1620	Boreal Baltic islets and small islands	25	36,0%	16,0%	48,0%
	1630	Boreal Baltic coastal meadows	54	55,6%	24,1%	20,4%
	1640	Boreal Baltic sandy beaches with perennial vegetation	22	50,0%	40,9%	9,1%
	1650	Boreal Baltic narrow inlets	20	40,0%	20,0%	40,0%
	2110	Embryonic shifting dunes	77	41,6%	26,0%	32,5%
	2120	Shifting dunes along the shoreline with Ammophila arenaria ("white dunes")	89	44,9%	23,6%	31,5%
	2130	Fixed coastal dunes with herbaceous vegetation ("grey dunes")	233	57,1%	20,2%	22,7%
	2140	Decalcified fixed dunes with Empetrum nigrum	42	71,4%	26,2%	2,4%
S	2150	Atlantic decalcified fixed dunes (Calluno-Ulicetea)	51	72,5%	25,5%	2,0%
abitat	2160	Dunes with Hippophae rhamnoides	39	71,8%	20,5%	7,7%
nes h	2170	Dunes with Salix repens ssp. argentea (Salicion arenariae)	55	76,4%	23,6%	0,0%
õ	2180	Wooded dunes of the Atlantic, Continental and Boreal region	104	67,3%	20,2%	12,5%
	2190	Humid dune slacks	205	67,3%	18,0%	14,6%
	21A0	Machairs (* in Ireland)	28	78,6%	14,3%	7,1%
	2210	Crucianellion maritimae fixed beach dunes	48	50,0%	10,4%	39,6%
	2220	Dunes with Euphorbia terracina	51	52,9%	17,6%	29,4%
	2230	Malcolmietalia dune grasslands	92	34,8%	20,7%	44,6%
	2240	Brachypodietalia dune grasslands with annuals	56	33,9%	37,5%	28,6%

				% plant species classified as		
habitat group	habitat code	description	number of plants	important for pollinators	not important for pollinators	not yet classified
	2250	Coastal dunes with Juniperus spp.	72	52 <i>,</i> 8%	9,7%	37,5%
	2260	Cisto-Lavenduletalia dune sclerophyllous scrubs	111	77,5%	6,3%	16,2%
	2270	Wooded dunes with Pinus pinea and/or Pinus pinaster	68	61,8%	8,8%	29,4%
	2310	Dry sand heaths with Calluna and Genista	72	69,4%	25,0%	5,6%
	2320	Dry sand heaths with Calluna and Empetrum nigrum	27	74,1%	22,2%	3,7%
	2330	Inland dunes with open Corynephorus and Agrostis grasslands	141	70,9%	22,0%	7,1%
	2340	Pannonic inland dunes	55	50,9%	25,5%	23,6%
	3110	Oligotrophic waters containing very few minerals of sandy plains (Littorelletalia uniflorae)	64	48,4%	17,2%	34,4%
	3120	Oligotrophic waters containing very few minerals generally on sandy soils of the West Mediterranean, with Isoetes spp.	37	27,0%	21,6%	51,4%
	3130	Oligotrophic to mesotrophic standing waters with vegetation of the Littorelletea uniflorae and/or of the Isoëto- Nanojuncetea	229	48,5%	19,7%	31,9%
er habitat:	3140	Hard oligo-mesotrophic waters with benthic vegetation of Chara spp.	55	40,0%	10,9%	49,1%
reshwate	3150	Natural eutrophic lakes with Magnopotamion or Hydrocharition - type vegetation	129	36,4%	14,7%	48,8%
ш	3160	Natural dystrophic lakes and ponds	76	67,1%	6,6%	26,3%
	3170	Mediterranean temporary ponds	121	42,1%	16,5%	41,3%
	3180	Turloughs	27	66,7%	11,1%	22,2%
	3190	Lakes of gypsum karst	7	28,6%	28,6%	42,9%
	31A0	Transylvanian hot-spring lotus beds	3	33,3%	33,3%	33,3%
	3210	Fennoscandian natural rivers	16	31,3%	31,3%	37,5%
	3220	Alpine rivers and the herbaceous vegetation along their banks	101	76,2%	11,9%	11,9%

				% plant species classified as		
habitat group	habitat code	description	number of plants	important for pollinators	not important for pollinators	not yet classified
	3230	Alpine rivers and their ligneous vegetation with Myricaria germanica	53	77,4%	9,4%	13,2%
	3240	Alpine rivers and their ligneous vegetation with Salix elaeagnos	89	71,9%	16,9%	11,2%
	3250	Constantly flowing Mediterranean rivers with Glaucium flavum	68	63,2%	4,4%	32,4%
	3260	Water courses of plain to montane levels with the Ranunculion fluitantis and Callitricho-Batrachion vegetation	110	38,2%	8,2%	53,6%
	3270	Rivers with muddy banks with Chenopodion rubri p.p. and Bidention p.p. vegetation	121	59,5%	13,2%	27,3%
	3280	Constantly flowing Mediterranean rivers with Paspalo-Agrostidion species and hanging curtains of Salix and Populus alba	72	51,4%	29,2%	19,4%
	3290	Intermittently flowing Mediterranean rivers of the Paspalo-Agrostidion	44	31,8%	31,8%	36,4%
	32A0	Tufa cascades of karstic rivers in the Dinaric Alps	0			
	4010	Northern Atlantic wet heaths with Erica tetralix	58	69,0%	20,7%	10,3%
	4020	Temperate Atlantic wet heaths with Erica ciliaris and Erica tetralix	37	73,0%	13,5%	13,5%
	4030	European dry heaths	250	70,0%	19,6%	10,4%
qn	4040	Dry Atlantic coastal heaths with Erica vagans	26	76,9%	7,7%	15,4%
k scr	4050	Endemic macaronesian heaths	41	51,2%	9,8%	39,0%
ath 8	4060	Alpine and Boreal heaths	211	64,9%	19,0%	16,1%
Hea	4070	Bushes with Pinus mugo and Rhododendron hirsutum (Mugo- Rhododendretum hirsuti)	103	77,7%	16,5%	5,8%
	4080	Sub-Arctic Salix spp. scrub	108	74,1%	18,5%	7,4%
	4090	Endemic oro-Mediterranean heaths with gorse	163	68,7%	9,2%	22,1%
	40A0	Subcontinental peri-Pannonic scrub	180	78,9%	8,9%	12,2%

				% plant species classified as		
habitat group	habitat code	description	number of plants	important for pollinators	not important for pollinators	not yet classified
	40B0	Rhodope Potentilla fruticosa thickets	8	37,5%	25,0%	37,5%
	40C0	Ponto-Sarmatic deciduous thickets	25	60,0%	4,0%	36,0%
	5110	Stable xerothermophilous formations with Buxus sempervirens on rock slopes (Berberidion p.p.)	135	75,6%	8,9%	15,6%
	5120	Mountain Cytisus purgans formations	26	80,8%	11,5%	7,7%
	5130	Juniperus communis formations on heaths or calcareous grasslands	527	75,7%	14,6%	9,7%
	5140	Cistus palhinhae formations on maritime wet heaths	12	83,3%	0,0%	16,7%
crubs	5210	Arborescent matorral with Juniperus spp.	136	58,8%	12,5%	28,7%
5220 5230	5220	Arborescent matorral with Zyziphus	35	48,6%	2,9%	48,6%
	5230	Arborescent matorral with Laurus nobilis	42	64,3%	14,3%	21,4%
Scle	5310	Laurus nobilis thickets	34	76,5%	14,7%	8,8%
	5320	Low formations of Euphorbia close to cliffs	41	68,3%	2,4%	29,3%
	5330	Thermo-Mediterranean and pre- desert scrub	217	64,1%	5,5%	30,4%
	5410	West Mediterranean clifftop phryganas (Astragalo- Plantaginetum subulatae)	42	64,3%	0,0%	35,7%
	5420	Sarcopoterium spinosum phryganas	89	76,4%	6,7%	16,9%
	5430	Endemic phryganas of the Euphorbio-Verbascion	85	74,1%	8,2%	17,6%
	6110	Rupicolous calcareous or basophilic grasslands of the Alysso-Sedion albi	253	62,1%	11,9%	26,1%
	6120	Xeric sand calcareous grasslands	149	67,8%	18,8%	13,4%
slands	6130	Calaminarian grasslands of the Violetalia calaminariae	97	56,7%	22,7%	20,6%
Gras	6140	Siliceous Pyrenean Festuca eskia grasslands	24	66,7%	16,7%	16,7%
	6150	Siliceous alpine and boreal grasslands	171	64,9%	22,2%	12,9%
	6160	Oro-Iberian Festuca indigesta grasslands	47	34,0%	36,2%	29,8%

				% plant species classified as		
habitat group	habitat code	description	number of plants	important for pollinators	not important for pollinators	not yet classified
	6170	Alpine and subalpine calcareous grasslands	402	64,7%	17,9%	17,4%
	6180	Macaronesian mesophile grasslands	45	37,8%	26,7%	35,6%
	6190	Rupicolous pannonic grasslands (Stipo-Festucetalia pallentis)	162	62,3%	16,7%	21,0%
	6210	Semi-natural dry grasslands and scrubland facies on calcareous substrates (Festuco-Brometalia) (* important orchid sites)	629	70,1%	13,0%	16,9%
	6220	Pseudo-steppe with grasses and annuals of the Thero- Brachypodietea	208	44,7%	26,0%	29,3%
	6230	Species-rich Nardus grasslands, on siliceous substrates in mountain areas (and submountain areas, in Continental Europe)	324	68,2%	20,7%	11,1%
	6240	Sub-Pannonic steppic grasslands	281	68,3%	16,7%	14,9%
	6250	Pannonic loess steppic grasslands	112	64,3%	17,0%	18,8%
	6260	Pannonic sand steppes	95	67,4%	20,0%	12,6%
	6270	Fennoscandian lowland species- rich dry to mesic grasslands	69	72,5%	20,3%	7,2%
	6280	Nordic alvar and precambrian calcareous flatrocks	61	78,7%	11,5%	9,8%
	62A0	Eastern sub-Mediterranean dry grasslands (Scorzoneratalia villosae)	160	61,9%	16,3%	21,9%
	62B0	Serpentinophilous grasslands of Cyprus	18	61,1%	5,6%	33,3%
	62C0	Ponto-Sarmatic steppes	94	46,8%	31,9%	21,3%
	62D0	Oro-Moesian acidophilous grasslands	37	62,2%	27,0%	10,8%
	6310	Dehesas with evergreen Quercus spp.	24	62,5%	8,3%	29,2%
	6410	Molinia meadows on calcareous, peaty or clayey-silt-laden soils (Molinion caeruleae)	249	79,9%	10,8%	9,2%
	6420	Mediterranean tall humid grasslands of the Molinio- Holoschoenion	129	57,4%	20,9%	21,7%

				% plant species classified as		
habitat group	habitat code	description	number of plants	important for pollinators	not important for pollinators	not yet classified
	6430	Hydrophilous tall herb fringe communities of plains and of the montane to alpine levels	459	77,8%	10,2%	12,0%
	6440	Alluvial meadows of river valleys of the Cnidion dubii	158	81,0%	12,0%	7,0%
	6450	Northern boreal alluvial meadows	52	67,3%	23,1%	9,6%
	6460	Peat grasslands of Troodos	21	42,9%	42,9%	14,3%
	6510	Lowland hay meadows (Alopecurus pratensis, Sanguisorba officinalis)	328	76,8%	15,2%	7,9%
	6520	Mountain hay meadows	294	76,9%	12,9%	10,2%
	6530	Fennoscandian wooded meadows	90	81,1%	8,9%	10,0%
	6540	Sub-Mediterranean grasslands of the Molinio-Hordeion secalini	13	46,2%	30,8%	23,1%
	7110	Active raised bogs	67	76,1%	17,9%	6,0%
	7120	Degraded raised bogs still capable of natural regeneration	83	78,3%	12,0%	9,6%
	7130	Blanket bogs (* if active bog)	51	62,7%	19,6%	17,6%
	7140	Transition mires and quaking bogs	203	73,9%	16,7%	9,4%
sue	7150	Depressions on peat substrates of the Rhynchosporion	57	75,4%	8,8%	15,8%
es & fe	7160	Fennoscandian mineral-rich springs and springfens	37	75,7%	5,4%	18,9%
3ogs, mir	7210	Calcareous fens with Cladium mariscus and species of the Caricion davallianae	130	78,5%	12,3%	9,2%
ш	7220	Petrifying springs with tufa formation (Cratoneurion)	120	69,2%	10,8%	20,0%
	7230	Alkaline fens	233	73,0%	11,2%	15,9%
	7240	Alpine pioneer formations of Caricion bicoloris-atrofuscae	56	66,1%	17,9%	16,1%
	7310	Aapa mires	58	75,9%	15,5%	8,6%
	7320	Palsa mires	6	66,7%	33,3%	0,0%
Rocky habitats	8110	Siliceous scree of the montane to snow levels (Androsacetalia alpinae and Galeopsietalia ladani)	149	55,0%	26,8%	18,1%

habitat group	habitat code	description	number of plants	% plant species classified as		
				important for pollinators	not important for pollinators	not yet classified
	8120	Calcareous and calcshist screes of the montane to alpine levels (Thlaspietea rotundifolii)	217	56,7%	18,0%	25,3%
	8130	Western Mediterranean and thermophilous scree	207	48,8%	10,1%	41,1%
	8140	Eastern Mediterranean screes	63	44,4%	9,5%	46,0%
	8150	Medio-European upland siliceous screes	73	61,6%	24,7%	13,7%
	8160	Medio-European calcareous scree of hill and montane levels	100	70,0%	17,0%	13,0%
	8210	Calcareous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation	408	50,7%	14,0%	35,3%
	8220	Siliceous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation	360	40,0%	22,8%	37,2%
	8230	Siliceous rock with pioneer vegetation of the Sedo- Scleranthion or of the Sedo albi- Veronicion dillenii	193	59,1%	17,1%	23,8%
	8240	Limestone pavements	192	66,7%	19,8%	13,5%
	8310	Caves not open to the public	34	17,6%	58,8%	23,5%
	8320	Fields of lava and natural excavations	61	54,1%	24,6%	21,3%
	8330	Submerged or partially submerged sea caves	4	25,0%	25,0%	50,0%
	8340	Permanent glaciers	24	87,5%	4,2%	8,3%
	9010	Western Taïga	52	55,8%	30,8%	13,5%
Forests	9020	Fennoscandian hemiboreal natural old broad-leaved deciduous forests (Quercus, Tilia, Acer, Fraxinus or Ulmus) rich in epiphytes	47	74,5%	21,3%	4,3%
	9030	Natural forests of primary succession stages of landupheaval coast	1	100,0%	0,0%	0,0%
	9040	Nordic subalpine/subarctic forests with Betula pubescens ssp. czerepanovii	31	80,6%	16,1%	3,2%
	9050	Fennoscandian herb-rich forests with Picea abies	56	64,3%	25,0%	10,7%
	9060	Coniferous forests on, or connected to, glaciofluvial eskers	44	79,5%	11,4%	9,1%
	9070	Fennoscandian wooded pastures	49	81,6%	14,3%	4,1%

	habitat code	description		% plant species classified as		
habitat group			number of plants	important for pollinators	not important for pollinators	not yet classified
	9080	Fennoscandian deciduous swamp woods	47	63,8%	34,0%	2,1%
	9110	Luzulo-Fagetum beech forests	151	70,2%	18,5%	11,3%
	9120	Atlantic acidophilous beech forests with Ilex and sometimes also Taxus in the shrublayer (Quercion robori-petraeae or Ilici-Fagenion)	71	67,6%	21,1%	11,3%
	9130	Asperulo-Fagetum beech forests	224	78,1%	13,8%	8,0%
	9140	Medio-European subalpine beech woods with Acer and Rumex arifolius	99	84,8%	9,1%	6,1%
	9150	Medio-European limestone beech forests of the Cephalanthero-Fagion	247	81,4%	8,5%	10,1%
	9160	Sub-Atlantic and medio- European oak or oak-hornbeam forests of the Carpinion betuli	213	80,8%	13,6%	5,6%
	9170	Galio-Carpinetum oak-hornbeam forests	245	80,4%	10,2%	9,4%
	9180	Tilio-Acerion forests of slopes, screes and ravines	313	75,1%	15,3%	9,6%
	9190	Old acidophilous oak woods with Quercus robur on sandy plains	130	70,0%	22,3%	7,7%
	91A0	Old sessile oak woods with Ilex and Blechnum in the British Isles	17	70,6%	23,5%	5,9%
	91AA	Eastern white oak woods	74	64,9%	10,8%	24,3%
	91B0	Thermophilous Fraxinus angustifolia woods	35	80,0%	8,6%	11,4%
	91BA	Moesian silver fir forests	39	76,9%	10,3%	12,8%
	91C0	Caledonian forest	10	70,0%	10,0%	20,0%
	91CA	Rhodopide and Balkan Range Scots pine forests	58	65,5%	17,2%	17,2%
	91D0	Bog woodland	153	67,3%	22,2%	10,5%
	91E0	Alluvial forests with Alnus glutinosa and Fraxinus excelsior (Alno-Padion, Alnion incanae, Salicion albae)	425	75,5%	12,2%	12,2%

				% plant species classified as		
habitat group	habitat code	description	number of plants	important for pollinators	not important for pollinators	not yet classified
	91F0	Riparian mixed forests of Quercus robur, Ulmus laevis and Ulmus minor, Fraxinus excelsior or Fraxinus angustifolia, along the great rivers (Ulmenion minoris)	260	76,9%	10,4%	12,7%
	91G0	Pannonic woods with Quercus petraea and Carpinus betulus	178	77,0%	7,3%	15,7%
	91H0	Pannonian woods with Quercus pubescens	161	77,0%	8,7%	14,3%
	9110	Euro-Siberian steppic woods with Quercus spp.	224	76,8%	9,8%	13,4%
	91J0	Taxus baccata woods of the British Isles	20	80,0%	15,0%	5,0%
	91KO	Illyrian Fagus sylvatica forests (Aremonio-Fagion)	115	74,8%	6,1%	19,1%
	91L0	Illyrian oak-hornbeam forests (Erythronio-Carpinion)	117	75,2%	6,8%	17,9%
	91M0	Pannonian-Balkanic turkey oak- sessile oak forests	147	66,7%	9,5%	23,8%
	91N0	Pannonic inland sand dune thicket (Junipero-Populetum albae)	46	71,7%	19,6%	8,7%
	91P0	Holy Cross fir forests (Abietetum polonicum)	51	62,7%	19,6%	17,6%
	91Q0	Western Carpathian calcicolous Pinus sylvestris forests	60	75,0%	10,0%	15,0%
	91R0	Dinaric dolomite Scots pine forests (Genisto januensis- Pinetum)	21	90,5%	0,0%	9,5%
	91S0	Western Pontic beech forests	26	53,8%	11,5%	34,6%
	91T0	Central European lichen Scots pine forests	49	65,3%	22,4%	12,2%
	91U0	Sarmatic steppe pine forest	178	80,3%	13,5%	6,2%
	91V0	Dacian Beech forests (Symphyto- Fagion)	25	80,0%	4,0%	16,0%
	91W0	Moesian beech forests	33	69,7%	12,1%	18,2%
	91X0	Dobrogean beech forests	23	78,3%	21,7%	0,0%
	91Y0	Dacian oak & hornbeam forests	36	72,2%	5,6%	22,2%
	91Z0	Moesian silver lime woods	58	84,5%	3,4%	12,1%
	9210	Apennine beech forests with Taxus and Ilex	30	76,7%	6,7%	16,7%

				% plant species classified as		
habitat group	habitat code	description	number of plants	important for pollinators	not important for pollinators	not yet classified
	9220	Apennine beech forests with Abies alba and beech forests with Abies nebrodensis	25	80,0%	0,0%	20,0%
	9230	Galicio-Portuguese oak woods with Quercus robur and Quercus pyrenaica	57	52,6%	14,0%	33,3%
	9240	Quercus faginea and Quercus canariensis Iberian woods	22	63,6%	0,0%	36,4%
	9250	Quercus trojana woods	39	66,7%	5,1%	28,2%
	9260	Castanea sativa woods	153	74,5%	9,2%	16,3%
	9270	Hellenic beech forests with Abies borisii-regis	54	68,5%	14,8%	16,7%
	9280	Quercus frainetto woods	37	64,9%	13,5%	21,6%
	9290	Cupressus forests (Acero- Cupression)	30	50,0%	10,0%	40,0%
	92A0	Salix alba and Populus alba galleries	142	64,8%	10,6%	24,6%
	92B0	Riparian formations on intermittent Mediterranean water courses with Rhododendron ponticum, Salix and others	41	53,7%	29,3%	17,1%
	92C0	Platanus orientalis and Liquidambar orientalis woods (Platanion orientalis)	81	61,7%	17,3%	21,0%
	92D0	Southern riparian galleries and thickets (Nerio-Tamaricetea and Securinegion tinctoriae)	75	46,7%	18,7%	34,7%
	9310	Aegean Quercus brachyphylla woods	27	70,4%	14,8%	14,8%
	9320	Olea and Ceratonia forests	72	51,4%	15,3%	33,3%
	9330	Quercus suber forests	30	50,0%	20,0%	30,0%
	9340	Quercus ilex and Quercus rotundifolia forests	113	62,8%	14,2%	23,0%
	9350	Quercus macrolepis forests	23	43,5%	21,7%	34,8%
	9360	Macaronesian laurel forests (Laurus, Ocotea)	69	36,2%	7,2%	56,5%
	9370	Palm groves of Phoenix	26	46,2%	19,2%	34,6%
	9380	Forests of Ilex aquifolium	29	69,0%	3,4%	27,6%
	9390	Scrub and low forest vegetation with Quercus alnifolia	15	80,0%	0,0%	20,0%

	habitat code	description		% plant species classified as		
habitat group			number of plants	important for pollinators	not important for pollinators	not yet classified
	93A0	Woodlands with Quercus infectoria (Anagyro foetidae- Quercetum infectoriae)	34	47,1%	8,8%	44,1%
	9410	Acidophilous Picea forests of the montane to alpine levels (Vaccinio-Piceetea)	150	69,3%	17,3%	13,3%
	9420	Alpine Larix decidua and/or Pinus cembra forests	68	69,1%	16,2%	14,7%
	9430	Subalpine and montane Pinus uncinata forests (* if on gypsum or limestone)	89	68,5%	14,6%	16,9%
	9510	Southern Apennine Abies alba forests	8	87,5%	0,0%	12,5%
	9520	Abies pinsapo forests	17	41,2%	5,9%	52,9%
	9530	(Sub-) Mediterranean pine forests with endemic black pines	167	65,9%	10,8%	23,4%
	9540	Mediterranean pine forests with endemic Mesogean pines	100	63,0%	13,0%	24,0%
	9550	Canarian endemic pine forests	10	70,0%	0,0%	30,0%
	9560	Endemic forests with Juniperus spp.	154	46,1%	16,9%	37,0%
	9570	Tetraclinis articulata forests	34	47,1%	17,6%	35,3%
	9580	Mediterranean Taxus baccata woods	64	75,0%	7,8%	17,2%
	9590	Cedrus brevifolia forests (Cedrosetum brevifoliae)	12	58,3%	16,7%	25,0%
	95A0	High oro-Mediterranean pine forests	58	56,9%	12,1%	31,0%